

APRIL 2024

Emerging Opportunities for State-Based Marketplaces (SBMs)

Joel Ario, National Advisor Amy Zhan, Manager Manatt Health

About Manatt Health

Manatt Health integrates legal and consulting services to better meet the complex needs of clients across the health care system.

Combining legal excellence, firsthand experience in shaping public policy, sophisticated strategy insight and deep analytic capabilities, we provide uniquely valuable professional services to the full range of health industry players.

Our diverse team of more than 200 attorneys and consultants from Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP, and its consulting subsidiary, Manatt Health Strategies, LLC, is passionate about helping our clients advance their business interests, fulfill their missions and lead health care into the future. For more information, visit https://www.manatt.com/Health or contact:

Joel Ario Amy Zhan National Advisor Manager Manatt Health Manatt Health 518.431.6719 212.790.4573

jario@manatt.com azhan@manatt.com

The authors are indebted to Katherine Hempstead, senior policy adviser to the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, for invaluable suggestions, big and small, at every step of the process. Mr. Ario also wishes to acknowledge that he has represented multiple clients with various interests in the future of SBMs, including states (e.g., the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the State of New Jersey) and technology providers (e.g., Health Sherpa and Stride Health).

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	5
Introduction	7
Overview of White Paper	9
The Marketplaces at a Crossroads	11
The SBM/FFM Landscape	12
First Generation SBMs	12
Second Generation SBMs	13
User Fees	15
Technological Innovation	17
Overview	17
FFM Overview	17
SBM Overview	17
Eligibility and Enrollment (E&E)	18
First Generation SBMs	18
Second Generation SBMs	19
Consumer Outreach	20
Overview	20
FFM History	20
SBM History	20
Navigators and Assisters	23
Agents and Brokers	24
Alternative Channels	25
Recommendations: Improving Consumer Assistance and Outreach	26
Medicaid-Marketplace Collaboration	27
FFM Overview	28
SBM Overview	28
First Generation SBMs	28
Second Generation SBMs	29
Recommendations: Improving Medicaid Collaboration	32
Policy Innovation	3/

Overview	34
FFM Overview	34
SBM Overview	35
Reinsurance	35
State Subsidies	36
Easy Enrollment	38
Public Option	38
Basic Health Program	39
Addressing Racial and Ethnic Disparities	
Recommendations: Improving Policy Innovation	41
Conclusion	
Appendix: Interviewee Names and Affiliations	43

Executive Summary

The Affordable Care Act (ACA) Marketplaces have nearly tripled their enrollment in their first decade of operation, from eight million people in 2014 to 21.4 million in 2024. At the national level, the ACA has helped cut the uninsured rate nearly in half through a combination of Medicaid expansion, Marketplace enrollment and other initiatives. However, this national success masks wide variation among the states, from a 2.4% uninsured rate in Massachusetts to a 16.6% uninsured rate in Texas.

This white paper focuses on the role that State-Based Marketplaces (SBMs) have played in helping reduce the uninsured rate in the SBM states and discusses how the 32 states currently using the Federally-Facilitated

Marketplace (FFM) could achieve similar coverage gains by establishing an SBM. The paper relies on insights garnered from interviews with SBM leaders in ten states to explain how SBM states can better target consumer outreach to reach the uninsured, improve coordination between their SBM and state Medicaid agency, and enhance affordability by adopting state subsidies and other policy initiatives not possible as an FFM state.

SBM states can better target consumer outreach, improve Marketplace-Medicaid coordination and supplement federal subsidies with state subsidies.

The paper begins with an introductory section that identifies Medicaid expansion as the single most important way to expand coverage, with establishment of an SBM as a complementary strategy to make further coverage gains. The 12 FFM states that had not expanded Medicaid as of 2022 had an average uninsured rate of 10.3%. The average rate dropped to 7.0% for the 21 FFM states that had expanded Medicaid. Most significant for this paper on SBMs, the average rate dropped again to 5.8% for the 17 states plus D.C., which had both expanded Medicaid and established an SBM as of 2022.

States that both expanded Medicaid and established an SBM had an average uninsured rate of 5.8% in 2022. States that had done neither had an average uninsured rate of 10.3%.

The introduction also highlights the importance of future SBMs meeting the high bar established by current SBMs and discusses steps the Biden Administration is taking to raise the minimum SBM standards, which the current

SBMs typically exceed. The paper makes recommendations for how the Administration could continue raising the bar for SBMs to ensure that states have clear plans for using their SBM to improve their health care markets in ways not possible on the FFM, which has become a high performing IT platform for states that prefer a more passive approach to health reform.

The Biden Administration has taken steps to raise the minimum standards for SBMs and could do more.

The next two sections provide historical context:

- SBM/FFM landscape. A short history of SBMs, including the 12 first generation SBMs and the near doubling of SBMs since 2020, with seven second generation SBMs operative as of 2024, three more on schedule to become operational by 2027 and a half dozen other states actively considering SBMs.
- Technological innovation. An overview of technology advancements in two areas: consumer-facing websites that are continuously updated to offer consumers a high-quality online shopping experience and back-end

systems that support improved Marketplace/Medicaid coordination, as well as supporting other data management and compliance issues.

These historical sections are followed by three sections on SBM accomplishments in consumer outreach, Marketplace-Medicaid collaboration and policy innovation. Each section concludes with recommendations on how the Center for Consumer Information and Insurer Oversight (CCIIO) could strengthen standards for future SBMs:

• Consumer outreach. SBMs are able to collect and analyze granular data to expand and target consumer outreach on uninsured and churning populations, and SBMs generally devote more resources to consumer outreach than the FFM does. CCIIO has proposed a more robust SBM Blueprint process and could also enhance transparency about SBM spending on consumer outreach, and consider performance metrics for key consumer outreach responsibilities.

CCIIO has proposed a more robust SBM Blueprint process.

- Marketplace-Medicaid collaboration. SBM states have achieved better coordination between their SBMs and state Medicaid agencies. All SBMs to date have expanded Medicaid, and state leadership in SBM states generally prioritizes close working relationships between sister state programs. Most FFM states have chosen
 - to treat FFM decisions about Medicaid eligibility as "assessments" of Medicaid eligibility, meaning the state Medicaid agency has to reassess the FFM's decision. CCIIO could require SBM states to treat SBM eligibility decisions as binding determinations for Medicaid, tighten the operational requirements for a common Marketplace-Medicaid application and improve the account transfer process. CCIIO could also incent states that have not yet expanded Medicaid to do so in conjunction with establishing an SBM.

CCIIO could incent states that have not yet expanded Medicaid to do so in conjunction with establishing an SBM.

• Policy innovation. A majority of SBM states have supplemented federal tax credits with state subsidies, adopted easy enrollment programs, or implemented other policy initiatives to enhance access and affordability. All Marketplaces have had access to enhanced federal subsidies since 2020, but those subsidies are scheduled to lapse in 2026, and if Congress fails to renew them, SBM states will be in a better position to maintain ACA affordability gains. CCIIO cannot mandate innovation, but it could develop checklists that make it easier for other states to replicate successful innovations and develop templates for new types of innovation that advance the goals of the ACA.

CCIIO could develop checklists and templates to make it easier for states to replicate successful innovations, such as the Colorado Option.

Introduction

The Marketplaces are a central pillar of the Affordable Care Act (ACA), which, together with Medicaid expansion and other ACA programs, have expanded coverage to more than 40 million people and cut the uninsured rate to 6% or less (often substantially less) in states that have embraced the coverage goals of the ACA the most. The Marketplaces have come a long way in their first decade, from eight million enrollees in 2014 to 21.4 million enrollees in 2024. 1,2,3

This white paper focuses on how these enrollment gains can be taken to the next level by states interested in further reducing their uninsured rates and moving closer to universal coverage. State decisions on expanding Medicaid and establishing a State-Based Marketplace (SBM) have made a critical difference in the first ten years, and as uninsured rates are reduced and further gains become more challenging, state decisions could be even more pivotal in the ACA's second decade.

At the national level, the ACA has helped cut the uninsured rate nearly in half, from 14.9% in 2013 to 7.9% in 2022, but this national success masks wide variations among the states, from a 2.4% uninsured rate in Massachusetts to 16.6% in Texas.4 The most important reason for this wide variation is Medicaid expansion. 40 states and D.C. have chosen to expand Medicaid to date, and

Uninsured rates vary among states from 2.4% in Massachusetts to 16.6% in Texas.

78% of them have uninsured rates below the national average. The remaining ten states have had a decidedly different experience. Nine of the ten non-expansion states had uninsured rates well above the national average (8.6% to 16.6% in 2022); the only exception was Wisconsin, which financed its own partial expansion.

For a state interested in reducing its uninsured rate, the case is overwhelming that Medicaid expansion is the single best step toward that goal. The case is not as open and shut for establishing an SBM, since the choice is not SBM or no Marketplace. In fact, the ACA requires a Federally-Facilitated Marketplace (FFM) in any state that does not establish an SBM. As discussed in this paper, the FFM has also been a success story in the ACA's first decade, providing a vibrant Marketplace for 32 states.

Medicaid expansion is the single best way to reduce the uninsured rate.

There are, however, a growing number of states that have expanded Medicaid and want to do more at the state level to expand coverage. This white paper looks at three areas where the SBM states have pursued coverage initiatives that are easier to accomplish as an SBM state than as an FFM state—more targeted consumer outreach, better Marketplace-Medicaid collaboration and state subsidies to supplement federal ones. We describe the recent upsurge in SBMs—from 12 in 2017 to 19 today, with three more in the pipeline—and then focus on what has made the SBMs successful and how that success could be multiplied if more states adopt SBMs, especially those that have already expanded Medicaid or choose to pursue Medicaid expansion and an SBM as a package.

SBMs are well positioned to expand consumer outreach, collaborate with state Medicaid agencies and supplement federal subsidies with state ones.

¹ See Exhibit 4 for a summary of uninsured rates by state.

It is, of course, far from certain that future SBMs will follow the path of the current SBMs. Indeed, the nation is at a crossroads in the evolution of the ACA, with most SBM states led by Democratic governors supportive of the ACA and most remaining FFM states led by Republican governors with mixed or even adversarial views of the ACA, though more than half of these Republican-led states have expanded Medicaid. The Biden Administration has begun to address this situation by proposing higher SBM standards.

The proposed Marketplace rules for 2025 focus on higher standards for network adequacy and consumer outreach, where most current SBMs have exceeded minimum standards. The Administration has not proposed Medicaid expansion as a precondition for new SBMs, even though all SBMs to date have expanded Medicaid, nor has the Administration proposed other forms of Marketplace-Medicaid collaboration or state financial commitments beyond relatively minimal consumer outreach spending. It may be challenging to develop workable

Most current SBMS have exceeded minimum federal standards.

standards across all three areas discussed in this white paper, yet SBM success is a product of progress in all three areas. We make recommendations in all three areas for what the federal government could do, with more emphasis on incenting innovation than enforcing standardization.

Of course, the partisanship that has plaqued the ACA since its passage could continue to impede the establishment of additional SBMs if standards are tightened to align with the ACA's coverage goals. In that case, the status quo for states that rely on the FFM might have coverage results more in keeping with the intent of the ACA than would new SBMs with more limited objectives. But that result would also be less than optimal if it means that the majority of states do not feel ownership over their markets, leaving the FFM to drive the kinds of changes that SBMs are much better positioned to achieve, as detailed in this white paper.

The first decade of ACA implementation demonstrates that the ACA will be more stable and successful in states where the federal government and the state are active partners in achieving the coverage goals of the ACA. Establishing an SBM does not guarantee productive state-federal collaboration, but SBMs have been a critical factor for the most engaged states, and there are reasons for optimism about new SBMs bridging rather than exacerbating partisan tensions.

The ACA will be more stable and successful where the federal and state governments are active partners in reducing the uninsured rate.

Overview of White Paper

This white paper frames the opportunities for growth in the number of SBMs into a broader context, including insights gained from interviews with the SBM leaders in ten states. The paper begins with two historical sections:

- SBM/FFM landscape. A short history of SBMs, including the emergence of SBM-FPs, a new hybrid Marketplace model that has become an important waystation for states moving to a full SBM and may become a long-term option for some states wanting a limited partnership with the federal government.
- Technological innovation. An overview of technology advancements in two areas: consumer-facing websites that are continuously updated to offer consumers a high-quality online shopping experience and back-end systems that support improved Marketplace/Medicaid coordination, as well as supporting other data management and compliance issues.

The historical context is followed by three sections that focus on SBM accomplishments in three areas:

• Consumer outreach. SBMs are able to collect and analyze granular data to expand and target consumer outreach on uninsured and churning populations, and SBMs generally devote more resources to consumer outreach than the FFM does. The FFM's commitment to Navigator funding and other consumer outreach efforts has fluctuated by Administration, and the FFM has not made its more detailed data available to FFM or SBM-FP states.

The federal commitment to Navigator funding has fluctuated by Administration.

 Marketplace-Medicaid collaboration. SBM states have achieved better coordination between their SBMs and state Medicaid agencies, partly because state leadership in SBM states generally prioritizes close working relationships between sister state programs. Most FFM states have chosen to treat FFM decisions about Medicaid eligibility as "assessments" of Medicaid eligibility, meaning the state Medicaid agency has to reassess the FFM's decision. States could improve coordination by treating FFM decisions as determinative, which a handful of FFM states

SBM states generally prioritize close working relationships between their SBM and their state Medicaid agency.

have done. In addition, first generation SBMs benefited from large federal grants to build customized legacy technology systems that integrated Marketplace and Medicaid Eligibility and Enrollment (E&E) functionalities. Despite the better record in SBM states, however, an important caveat is that all 50 states still have a long way to go to achieve the seamless coverage continuum envisioned in the ACA, partly because benefits, cost sharing and other regulations continue to differ significantly between Marketplace and Medicaid programs.

• Policy innovation. A majority of SBM states have supplemented federal tax credits with state subsidies. All Marketplaces have had access to increased federal subsidies since 2020, but those subsidies are scheduled to lapse in 2026, and if Congress fails to renew them, SBM states will be in a better position to maintain those affordability gains.

A majority of SBM states have supplemented federal subsidies with state subsidies.

In each of these three sections, we began with a summary of FFM and SBM progress, then highlight SBM accomplishments and conclude with recommendations for what the Center for Consumer Information and Insurer

	Emerging Opportunities for State-Based Marketplaces (SBMs)
Oversight (CCIIO) could do to enhance the SBM B the flexibility that has been key to SBM success.	Blueprint process and strengthen standards without undercutting

The Marketplaces at a Crossroads

The ACA gives states the option of establishing their own SBM or deferring to the FFM, commonly known as Healthcare.gov, to run their Marketplace. The FFM dominated in the early years, with nearly 80% of states (39) relying on Healthcare.gov in 2017, including four states that were certified as SBMs, but then defaulted back to the FFM because of technology failures. While the 12 "first generation" SBMs (11 states plus D.C.) made significant coverage gains, future growth of SBMs was uncertain at best in 2017.

The landscape has changed dramatically since 2017, with the number of SBMs on pace to nearly double by 2027. One key factor has been technology advancements that have made "second generation" SBMs cheaper, more flexible and as dependable as Healthcare.gov from a technology perspective. Another factor was the Trump Administration's funding cutbacks and relaxed oversight of the FFM, which reminded states that federal policy is subject to change, and that one way for states to have more control over their own destiny is to establish an SBM.

The number of SBMs is on pace to nearly double from 12 to 22 states between 2017 and 2027.

In a 2020 Manatt white paper, Technology Opportunities for the ACA Marketplaces, we predicted a wave of new SBMs, and that is exactly what has happened with the seven new SBMs that became fully operational between 2020 and 2024, and three more legislatively authorized SBMs and SBM bills under consideration in several other states. Most significantly, Georgia could become the first Republican-led state to establish an SBM since Idaho in 2015, which could encourage other Republican-led states to establish SBMs and eventually make SBMs as dominant as the FFM was in 2017.

The doubling of the number of SBM states is a good sign for the ACA since there is a strong correlation between states that have established SBMs and states that have most effectively expanded coverage under the ACA. This is not to say that establishing an SBM automatically expands coverage. The historical record indicates that Medicaid expansion is more important, but every SBM state to date has also expanded Medicaid, and most have adopted multiple other strategies to expand coverage opportunities. These strategies include: better funded and/or more targeted data-driven consumer outreach strategies; better collaboration between the Marketplace and Medicaid; state subsidies that supplement federal tax credits; and, other initiatives that enhance affordability.

Despite the track record of SBMs, the expansion of SBMs into Republican states has not been a universally welcome development, as some Republican leaders continue to champion ACA repeal. The Biden Administration has responded by proposing stronger standards for future SBM applicants. The swirl of competing considerations is evident in the history of Georgia's approach to the Marketplaces, which began with a

The Biden Administration has proposed stronger standards for future SBM applicants.

Section 1332 innovation waiver, approved by the Trump Administration in 2020, that would have replaced the FFM with a privatized market rather than with an SBM. Georgia has since abandoned its privatized proposal and is in the process of implementing a 2023 Georgia statute that directs the state insurance commissioner to establish a federally-compliant SBM in 2025. If Georgia does become a full SBM in 2025, it would become the first SBM to not have expanded Medicaid.

The SBM/FFM Landscape

The Marketplaces were a central pillar of the ACA, which together with Medicaid expansion and other ACA programs, have expanded coverage to more than 40 million people and cut the uninsured rate to 6% or less (often substantially less) in states that have most fully embraced ACA implementation.^{5,6,7}

States that fully embrace the ACA have cut their uninsured rates to 6% or less.

The ACA required a Marketplace in every state to offer subsidized individual market coverage to the 10-15% of consumers who are not eligible for group coverage, Medicare or Medicaid and meet subsidy guidelines. The law charged the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) with establishing standards for states to have the option of running their own SBM or deferring to the federally-facilitated FFM, commonly known as Healthcare.gov.

The number of states running their own Marketplaces has varied from a low of 11 states plus D.C. in 2017 to 19 SBMs today, with three more states in the process of becoming SBMs, and the potential for a majority of

states to run their own Marketplaces over the next decade. This resurgence of state interest in establishing SBMs is motivated by multiple factors, but the underlying driver is more state control over the individual insurance market under the ACA framework, which offers states relatively wide latitude under federal standards that continue to evolve from one presidential administration to the next.

The underlying driver for SBMs is state control over the insurance market under the ACA framework.

The complex blend of state and federal authority under the ACA has proven effective in stabilizing and growing the individual market. In 2024, the Marketplaces achieved their highest enrollment to date with 21.4 million enrollees, and there is now strong bipartisan support for prohibiting discrimination based on pre-existing conditions and other practices that limited market access in pre-ACA days. Insurer competition has increased as well, and states have taken a more active role in enforcing ACA standards. For example, 48 states are currently certified by HHS to review insurer premium rate filings for compliance with ACA requirements.9

Since the early days of the ACA, state decisions to establish their own SBMs have been made in response to an evolving technological and political environment. Notably, the partisanship that continues to haunt the ACA has meant that SBMs have been established primarily in Democratic-led states, though once established, SBMs have generally garnered bipartisan support.

SBMs have been established primarily by Democratic governors, though once established, SBMs have generally garnered bipartisan support.

First Generation SBMs

Prior to the November 2013 launch of the Marketplaces, 16 states and D.C. made serious attempts to build their own SBM technology. Three of those states (Hawaii, Nevada and Oregon) defaulted back to reliance on Healthcare.gov when their SBM technology failed. Kentucky, which had one of the earliest successful SBMs, defaulted back to the FFM in 2016 at the direction of a new governor opposed to the ACA. New Mexico operated a small group exchange but was not approved as a full SBM until 2022.

By 2017, the number of "full SBMs" was down to 11 states plus D.C., with 39 states reliant on the FFM. As discussed more fully below, four of the five states that defaulted to the FFM for technology reasons retained their SBM aspirations, which led HHS to create a new hybrid SBM-FP category. 10 SBM-FP states are responsible for consumer assistance and plan management (insurer oversight) but remain dependent on the FFM for eligibility and enrollment.

Exhibit 1 highlights the SBM/FFM landscape over time.

Exhibit 1. State-Based Marketplace Transitions Over Time, 2014–2025^{ii,iii,11}



Second Generation SBMs

From 2017–2020, the Trump Administration's cutbacks in FFM support, particularly its dramatic cuts in Navigator spending and advertising, and the emergence of more dependable second-generation SBM technology precipitated a resurgence in full SBMs with seven new full SBMs operative by 2024, and three more states in the process of transitioning to full SBM status. Nine of these ten states had a Democratic governor at the time the SBM transition decision was made, reinforcing the idea that SBMs are a Democratic state phenomenon. Georgia is the exception, with a Republican governor and legislature deciding to pursue an SBM only after the Biden Administration challenged the legality of Georgia's 1332 waiver for a privatized Marketplace that had been approved by the Trump Administration in 2020.

Each of the ten second generation SBMs has taken its own unique path to an SBM, though they generally have followed in the footsteps of the first generation SBMs in their commitments to expand consumer outreach, expand Medicaid and improve Marketplace-Medicaid collaboration, and pursue public policy initiatives not possible on the FFM to make ACA coverage more affordable.

The ten second generation SBMs have each taken their own unique path to an SBM.

• Nevada (2020). Nevada, which has an independent Marketplace board, was the first state to adopt a second generation technology platform. While the state was primarily focused on cost savings and a streamlined

For purposes of this paper, because SBM-FPs rely on the FFM platform, which offers minimal flexibility, this graphic focuses only on full SBMs over time.

²⁰¹⁴ SBMs included 15 states, including CA, CO, CT, DC, HI, KY, MA, MD, MN, NV, OR, NY, RI, VT, WA. ID became an SBM in 2016, and five original SBMs fell back to reliance on the FFM in the early years. All but one of those states (HI) has returned or is on track to return to full SBM status. By PY 2027, the 22 SBMs will include CA, CO, CT, DC, GA, IL, HI, KY, MA, MD, ME, MN, NJ, NM, NV, NY, OR, NV, RI, VA, VT, WA.

operating model, the state has improved the account transfer process between the Marketplace and Medicaid and passed legislation to create a public option plan through a 1332 waiver.

• Pennsylvania (2021). Pennsylvania established an SBM with an independent board and used cost savings from its transition to fund a 1332 reinsurance waiver that reduced Marketplace premiums. Pennsylvania has also forged a close working relationship between its Marketplace and Medicaid, with Medicaid funds now covering more than one-third of the Marketplace budget under federal cost allocation rules.

Medicaid funds more than one-third of the Pennsylvania SBM under Medicaid cost allocation rules.

- New Jersey (2021). New Jersey placed its SBM in the state insurance department to pursue state subsidies and other health reforms. The enabling legislation also required SBM-Medicaid integration for eligibility and enrollment, though that integration has proved challenging.
- New Mexico (2022). New Mexico, which has an independent board, pursued an SBM to obtain more granular consumer data unavailable from the FFM to target consumer outreach efforts, as well as to improve coordination with Medicaid.
- Maine (2022). Maine placed its SBM in the same agency as Medicaid to facilitate coordination between the SBM and Medicaid. The state also secured federal approval for a 1332 waiver to merge the individual and small group markets and extend the state's reinsurance program to the small group market.
- Kentucky (2022). Kentucky was a successful first generation SBM that took a step back to SBM-FP status in 2017 when a Republican governor decided to suspend rather than terminate its SBM. Under a new Democratic Governor, Kentucky was able to simply restore its original SBM model for 2022, under which the SBM and the state Medicaid agency share an integrated E&E system under the same umbrella agency.
- Virginia (2024). Virginia became the 19th full SBM in 2024, with the SBM housed in the same regulatory body that oversees the state insurance department. It is the first second generation SBM state to authorize its SBM to make Medicaid determinations and is one of several states where a newly-elected Republican governor has supported the SBM path.

Virginia is the first second generation state to authorize its SBM to make binding Medicaid determinations.

- Georgia (2025). Georgia was approved as an SBM-FP for 2024 and anticipates becoming the 20th SBM in 2025, though its path to an SBM has been unique (see Exhibit 2).
- Illinois (2026). Illinois is slated to become the 21st SBM in 2026. The 2023 legislation housed the SBM in the state insurance department and called for close coordination between the SBM and Medicaid, with the state Medicaid agency given the leading role in developing a coordinated E&E system.
- Oregon (2027). Oregon has been an SBM-FP since 2015 and is on track to restore its full SBM in 2027. Oregon has pursued several public policy initiatives as an SBM-FP, including a Basic Health Plan (BHP), and intends to pursue broader initiatives not possible on the FFM when it becomes a full SBM in 2027. Oregon also moved its SBM-FP from the umbrella department for the state insurance division to the umbrella department for Medicaid to facilitate Marketplace and Medicaid coordination.

Exhibit 2. Georgia Case Study

Georgia merits special attention, since unlike the other full SBMs, Georgia first proposed a privatized system. In 2020, the Trump Administration approved Georgia's 1332 innovation waiver for a privatized system with no FFM or SBM. However, the Biden Administration subsequently suspended Georgia's approval, and the state enacted a 2023 law authorizing the insurance commissioner to establish an ACAcompliant SBM. Georgia is operating as an SBM-FP in 2024, anticipates becoming a full SBM in 2025 and is pursuing several traditional SBM priorities, including expanding its consumer outreach, increasing the number of participating insurers and conducting a major study of network adequacy. 12 At the same time,

Georgia would be the first SBM state to not expand Medicaid, though the state is under pressure to adopt a full expansion after a failed attempt at a partial Medicaid expansion. Finally, the Center for Consumer Information and Insurer Oversight (CCIIO) has recently proposed various changes in what it means to be a federally-compliant SBM that, if finalized, will apply to Georgia and other future SBM applicants. How Georgia navigates these cross-currents may well shape how other Republican-led states will view their SBM options.

Georgia is on track to become the first SBM state to not have expanded Medicaid.

User Fees

One development since Manatt's 2020 paper is that while the FFM continues to improve its services, it also has reduced federal user fees (the fees charged to insurers for using the Healthcare.gov platform). These fees have decreased since 2020 from 3.5% of monthly premium revenue to 2.25%. These fee reductions have changed the cost calculus for states focused on cost savings as the reason to establish an SBM. While the common practice of second generation SBMs was to set their user fees at or below the FFM fee at the time of legislative enactment,

Most SBMs have not followed the FFM in reducing their user fees, preferring to continue investing in consumer outreach and state subsidies.

none of the second generation SBMs have followed the FFM in reducing their fees. This means that most SBMs have higher fees than the current FFM fee and suggest that some future SBMs may have to propose higher fees than the FFM, especially in smaller states.

SBMs may be able to bring their fees down if premiums continue to increase faster than inflation and/or technology costs continue to decline. Alternatively, SBMs may redeploy any cost savings they have achieved into new outreach campaigns, state subsidy programs or other efforts to improve affordability and expand enrollment within their individual markets. In short, FFM user fees, which could increase or decrease in the future depending on how many states continue to rely on the FFM platform, are no longer a dependable marker for SBM user fees, which complicates the argument that cost savings is a good reason to establish an SBM.

The changing landscape on user fees only reinforces the fact that the best reason to establish an SBM is a strong state interest in having more control over ACA implementation, given the likelihood that FFM policy will remain volatile and dependent on presidential and congressional prerogatives. For some states with low to modest interest in health reform, federal policy changes will be less of a concern. However, for states with clear policy goals, establishing an SBM can be critically important.

The best reason to establish an SBM is a strong state interest in ACA implementation.

Technological Innovation

Overview

The Affordable Care Act (ACA) Marketplaces were envisioned to include state-of-the-art websites where consumers could go online to shop and pick a health benefit plan in real time with the support of consumer search tools that simplify the shopping experience in the same way that Amazon and other online retailers have streamlined the shopping experience for other consumer goods.

The ACA Marketplaces were envisioned to be state-of-the-art websites for consumer shopping.

At the same time, the ACA Marketplaces face unique technology challenges in the area of eligibility and enrollment (E&E), where integration of Marketplace and Medicaid systems proved challenging.

FFM Overview

For the millions of consumers who readily meet eligibility requirements for ACA individual market coverage, Healthcare.gov has made tremendous progress in developing a consumer-friendly website and a set of enrollment partners, that enable consumers to purchase ACA benefit plans online, often in 15 minutes or less.iv The FFM has made huge advances in the consumer tools that were discussed in our prior white paper. 13 Changes include improving assistive tools for estimating income, improving tools to search and filter plans based on prescription drugs or providers, providing more comprehensive information on plan cost-sharing, developing new tools to allow for "window shopping" in advance of the Open Enrollment Period, as well as adaptation to innovations in smart phones, social media advertising and other technological changes. 14,15

Healthcare.gov has partnered with web brokers that enable consumers to enroll in ACA benefit plans, often in 15 minutes or less.

SBM Overview

Healthcare.gov has scaling advantages over the SBMs in the ongoing challenge of keeping pace with technology improvements, though many FFM innovations are relatively easy for SBMs to replicate. In addition, even the smallest SBMs will have increasing opportunities to partner with technological innovators in the consumer experience space. Both the FFM and SBMs face diverse consumers. Some, such as young invincibles, who are often

Healthcare.gov has scaling advantages over the SBMs, though all Marketplaces have opportunities to partner with technological innovators.

looking for the lowest premium plan in their zip code, may seek an online experience that is quick and to the point. Others with complicated health needs, such as those that require multiple providers or drugs, or have expensive

iv Healthcare.gov has certified a number of direct enrollment partners with the capacity to replicate the Healthcare.gov website and offer consumers alternative websites for directly enrolling in ACA-qualified health without having to be transferred to Healthcare.gov. See consumer outreach section for more information on how "enhanced direct enrollment" (EDE) accounted for roughly half of all FFM enrollments for 2024.

health needs that make small differences in cost-sharing rules a critical consideration, will expect to spend more time with sophisticated sorting and filtering tools to allow them to compare options in detail. Still others, such as those with complicated households (e.g., a mix of Marketplace, CHIP and Medicaid eligible members) will require even more complex guidance, often including the advice of a Navigator or at least a well-trained call center staffer.

These consumer differences will require all Marketplaces to maintain robust call centers and in-person assistance to supplement their online services, but, like virtually all forms of commerce, online sales will continue to grow as a portion of business, and the pace of technological change will require continuous upgrades in Marketplace technology. Users will increasingly seek website interfaces for enrolling in health insurance that are designed intuitively and easy to navigate, that are compatible with smart phones and a variety of devices and that offer alternative channels for obtaining assistance outside of a call center or in-person office. 16

All ACA Marketplaces must maintain robust call centers and in-person assistance to supplement their online services.

Eligibility and Enrollment (E&E)

When states were first establishing SBMs, the focus was less on developing a world class shopping experience and more on determining who exactly was eligible for coverage and financial assistance in the first place. The most complex and expensive technology challenge was integrating eligibility for Marketplace financial assistance with Medicaid and CHIP eligibility, and in some cases, further integrating the Marketplaces with other social service programs. As discussed in the later section on Marketplace-Medicaid coordination, first generation SBM states received large federal grants to build customized and highly-integrated technology systems. These customized systems give those states distinct advantages over second generation SBM states that did not have access to federal grants and had to rely on separate and non-customized Marketplace E&E systems that were not integrated with their state Medicaid E&E systems.

First Generation SBMs

First generation SBMs were able to build integrated Marketplace and Medicaid systems with the support of \$5 billion in federal "establishment" grants. 17 Examples include:

- California received over \$1 billion to build an integrated E&E system for Medicaid and the Marketplace. Medicaid enrollment remains relatively decentralized, with strong governance processes over both the Marketplace and Medicaid proving critical to ensuring a smooth customer experience across the agencies. 18
- New York received over \$571 million to build a fully integrated "single-door" for Medicaid and Marketplace that includes a single rules engine for both Medicaid and Marketplace eligibility and enrollment for the MAGI population. 19,20 New York's integrated Marketplace includes Qualified Health Plans (QHP) for Marketplace enrollees, Essential Plans (EP) for BHP enrollees, Child Health Plus for CHIP enrollees and Medicaid. 21,22
- Washington received over \$302 million to build the state's integrated Marketplace, which includes an integrated application and single rules engine to provide eligibility determination and enrollment for both Marketplace and the MAGI Medicaid and CHIP population. 23,24

• Kentucky received over \$289 million to build the state's Health Benefit IT system, which integrated data exchanges with all of Kentucky's HHS programs and provided an end-to-end eligibility and enrollment system to serve both Medicaid and Marketplace enrollees.²⁵

These integrated systems were highly customized to adapt to state Medicaid systems, and, while they are still functioning well after a decade, these integrated systems have clear advantages over systems that require hand-offs or "account transfers" between two systems. This is especially true when it comes to challenges such as the unwinding of the Medicaid continuous coverage provisions, where millions of people who are losing Medicaid coverage could benefit from seamless approaches to being screened for and, where eligible, enrolled in Marketplace coverage.

First generation SBMs relied on federal grants to build highly-customized E&E systems that were integrated with state Medicaid systems.

Second Generation SBMs

Without the benefit of federal grants, second generation SBMs have had to rely on technology vendors, most of whom played support roles in helping build first generation Marketplaces and now offer off-the-shelf technology with costs amortized over time. Although the new technologies are not integrated with Medicaid, second generation SBMs have been able to improve on the FFM experience, partly because coordination between two state agencies is generally easier than coordinating between the FFM and state Medicaid agencies.

Furthermore, advances in technology have allowed for more modular approaches to improving SBM technology, by linking separate systems together to create a more nimble solution that is easier to upgrade over time. While these new technology products have been critical to the success of second generation SBMs, modular systems are also increasingly being used by first generation SBMs to update and, in some cases, replace first

Second generation SBMs have relied on off-the-shelf technology that takes a more modular approach to Marketplace-Medicaid coordination.

generation legacy systems, particularly with the consumer-facing aspects of their Marketplaces. As discussed in the Medicaid section, this does not mean that fully integrated systems have been abandoned in first generation SBMs. Indeed, those systems could be proven superior in the Medicaid unwinding and that could lead to new funding sources for fully-integrated systems.

At the present time, states are pursuing various strategies, some of which involve a "single door" approach where the E&E system is fully integrated; other strategies involve a "no wrong door" approach where separate E&E systems are coordinated so that the consumer gets to the right program regardless of what door they initially enter. And, of course, many strategies for coordination involve working relationships and protocols that do not depend on any form of complex technology to forge better coordination between the Marketplace and Medicaid. It remains to be seen what the most effective approaches will be in the future given how quickly technology evolves.

Consumer Outreach

Overview

The ACA Marketplaces, working in tandem with Medicaid expansion, have cut the nation's uninsured rate nearly in half (from 14.5% of the total US population in 2013 to 7.9% in 2022).26 Yet, of the total 25.6 million nonelderly

adults who remained uninsured in 2022, more than half (six in ten, or 15.3 million individuals) were eligible for financial assistance either through Medicaid or subsidized Marketplace coverage.²⁷ There is also considerable churn in coverage, with a 3.4% monthly turnover rate within the ACA Marketplace, compared to 2.1% in the group market.²⁸ There remain major differences between FFM and SBM states.

Currently, 60% of the remaining uninsured are eligible for Medicaid or Marketplace subsidies.

FFM History

FFM support for reaching the uninsured and other populations that churn in and out of coverage has been mixed, with the Obama Administration putting many programs in place to increase outreach, particularly through a highprofile Navigator program to fund community groups to target populations with lower than average coverage

rates.²⁹ The Trump Administration cut the Navigator funding by 90%, but the Biden Administration has restored and greatly exceeded Obama-era spending on Navigators. 30 The FFM has invested heavily in establishing partnerships with online brokers who offer alternative enrollment channels, which accounted for roughly half of all FFM enrollments for 2024.31,32

The Trump Administration cut Navigator funding by 90%.

SBM History

The SBM states have placed a high priority on reducing the uninsured rate. including Medicaid expansion.³³ As a result, SBM states generally have lower uninsured rates than FFM states. As illustrated by Exhibit 3, in 2022, the average uninsured rate was 10.3% for the 12 states that relied on the federal platform (FFM or SBM-FP states) and had not expanded Medicaid. The average drops to 7.0% for the 21 federal platform states that had expanded Medicaid and drops further to 5.8% for the 18 states that had both expanded Medicaid and established an SBM.

As of 2022, the average uninsured rate in the 18 SBM states was 5.8%.

Exhibit 4 displays all states and shows that of the 12 federal platform states that have not expanded Medicaid, only one state (8.3%) has an uninsurance rate below the national average of 7.9%. Among the 21 FFM or SBM-FP states that have expanded Medicaid, 14 states (66%) have uninsurance rates below the national average. Among the 18 states that have both expanded Medicaid and established an SBM, 15 states (83%) have uninsured rates below the national average. 34,35

Exhibit 3. Average Uninsurance Rates by Category (2022)³⁶

Category	Total # of States	Average Uninsurance Rates by Category
FFM/SBM-FP states + No Medicaid Expansion	12	10.3%
FFM/SBM-FP states + Medicaid Expansion	21	7.0%
SBM states + Medicaid Expansion	18	5.8%

Exhibit 4. Individual State Uninsurance Rates Compared to National Average Uninsurance Rate, by Category (2022)

Category	States with (7.9%) in E					verage		Total
FFM/SBM-FP states + No Medicaid Expansion	WI, 5.4%	AL, 8.6%	SC, 9.0%	TN, 9.4%	WY, 11.6%	GA, 11.7%		1 of 12 states (8%)
	SD, 8.0%	KS, 8.7%	NC, 9.4%	MS, 10.8%	FL, 11.2%	TX,, 16.6%		
FFM/SBM-FP states + Medicaid Expansion	HI, 3.6%	MI, 4.6%	WV, 5.9%	ND, 6.6%	LA, 6.8%	MT, 8.1%	AZ, 10.3%	
	IA, 4.1%	DE, 5.5%	OR, 6.0%	VA, 6.6%	NE, 6.8%	MO, 8.4%	AK, 10.7%	14 of 21 states (67%)
	NH, 4.5%	OH, 5.8%	IL, 6.6%	IN, 6.8%	UT, 8.1%	AK, 8.5%	OK, 11.9%	
SBM states + Medicaid Expansion	MA, 2.4%	RI, 4.1%	CT, 5.2%	MD, 6.0%	ME, 6.5%	ID, 8.2%		
	DC, 2.9%	MN, 4.3%	KY, 5.4%	WA, 6.0%	NJ, 6.9%	NM, 8.4%		15 of 18 states (83%)
	VT, 3.9%	NY, 4.9%	PA, 5.4%	CA, 6.5%	CO, 7.0%	NV, 11.1%		

As these two exhibits suggest, for states that want to do everything they can to reduce their uninsured rate, the best approach is to both expand Medicaid and establish an SBM. It also is worth noting that the FFM has helped many of the least insured FFM states grow their enrollment at a faster rate of increase than the most insured SBM states in recent years. Needless to say, enrollment gains become more difficult as the addressable market shrinks with Medicaid expansion, which only heightens the case for Medicaid expansion states to also establish an SBM to maintain and grow enrollment in the high churn individual market.

SBM leaders continue to reiterate that investing in consumer outreach remains one of the most effective ways to facilitate enrollment and coverage in the Marketplace. They also suggest the need for multiple strategies to reach different populations with distinct characteristics. For example:

- Hard-to-reach populations. The long-term uninsured may be hard to reach through traditional channels and may require targeted outreach with Navigators and other community partners that can navigate cultural barriers.37
- Medicaid-Marketplace churn. People whose incomes fluctuate between Medicaid and Marketplace eligibility may require close collaboration between Medicaid agencies and the Marketplace to reduce coverage loss during transitions.
- Marketplace-Employer Sponsored Insurance (ESI) churn. People that cycle in and out of ESI, such as gig workers or entrepreneurs, may need Marketplace coverage between jobs; those without ESI may need longterm coverage.

For many SBM states, a strong state interest in reaching targeted populations and the lack of granular data from the FFM to allow the state to engage in more targeted outreach is a top reason for preferring an SBM. Interviews with SBM leaders reveal deep commitments to strengthening and innovating around consumer outreach strategies that are targeted, effective, data-driven, culturally and linguistically competent and coordinated with other health providers and state services. For example:

SBM leaders are deeply committed to consumer outreach strategies that are targeted, datadriven, and culturally and linguistically competent.

- Using state-procured data, Rhode Island identified zip codes with a higher likelihood of having uninsured residents and created a "street team" to distribute health insurance enrollment materials, such as door hangers, flyers, brochures and posters, specifically in those areas.³⁸
- Washington is similarly using state data on the remaining uninsured to target specific geographic areas of the state and provide targeted outreach efforts to encourage enrollment, including education and listening sessions.³⁹ Especially in light of the state's 1332 waiver, which provides a new coverage opportunity for many individuals regardless of immigration status, the state is focused on outreach efforts to ensure broad awareness.
- During the pandemic, New York targeted outreach toward industries with higher rates of uninsured individuals, including the service industry, small businesses and self-employed individuals. 40

As these examples illustrate, SBM leaders are often focused on populations with a high rate of uninsurance, who typically face equity barriers, and low-income populations that churn between Medicaid and Marketplace coverage.

SBMs are additionally able to use their own data to develop targeted multi-media outreach campaigns, with the ability to micro-target consumers increasing every year. For example, Maryland, which had nearly 50% more new enrollees in 2022 than in 2021, emphasized the impact of partnering with social media influencers to reach hardto-reach consumers that might be eligible for subsidies under American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) and young adults eligible for state-funded subsidies.41

SBMs also back up their outreach goals with resources. Many SBMs spend a third or more of their budgets on consumer outreach. For example, California's 2021 budget for marketing, outreach/sales and related programs was \$157.7 million, or 35%, of Covered California's total budget. 42,43 Covered California also requires its carriers to meet key outreach spending metrics (see Exhibit 5 for more detail). Commitment to consumer outreach is a key reason why most SBMs have not reduced their user fees in lockstep with federal user fee reductions.

California spends 35% of its budget on consumer outreach and requires carriers to meet outreach spending metrics.

Exhibit 5. Covered California's Comprehensive Consumer Outreach Strategy

A key example of robust, best-in-class consumer outreach efforts continues to be Covered California, which has pursued nearly all available channels of consumer outreach, established a robust marketing campaign and relied on large numbers of Navigators, agents and brokers to support enrollment.

Covered California also conducts a significant amount of market research to inform and shape its marketing campaigns by understanding its target audiences. As a result, Covered California's statewide ad campaign and media efforts are tailored to several target populations, including previously enrolled members and people formerly enrolled in Medicaid.

Covered California also ensures broad access to its messaging by making campaigns available in multiple languages and across varying platforms (online, mail, text messages, phone calls) to reach people "where they live, learn, work, worship and play."44,45,46,47

California also has over 10,000 certified agents and nearly 100 directly funded Navigator partners and subcontractors, which Covered California leverages through its "Assisters Program." 48,49

Lastly, Covered California also uses its QHP contracting process (active purchasing authority) to establish marketing expectations for carriers' spend on consumer outreach.50

Navigators and Assisters

The varying emphases of SBMs and the FFM are perhaps most clear with respect to Navigators and assisters, which are federally defined roles designed to reach populations that carriers and agents may not. Federal funding

levels for Navigator programs have varied, with each Administration supporting and prioritizing Navigator programs at different levels over time. For example, for the 2022 coverage year, the Biden Administration allocated nearly \$100 million for Navigators, including \$12.5 million to support additional direct outreach, education and enrollment activities aimed at helping eligible individuals transition from Medicaid/CHIP to Marketplace coverage. 51,52 In

SBMs typically spend more per capita than the FFM on Navigator and assister programs.

contrast, the Trump Administration allocated only \$10 million for the Navigator program in 2018.53 SBMs have historically heavily invested in supporting Navigator and assister programs above and beyond the levels of support provided by the federal government:

- Pennsylvania substantially increased its support for Navigators when it became an SBM in 2022. v.54
- New York has trained nearly 14,000 assistors, Certified Application Counselors (CACs) and Facilitated Enrollers (FEs) to help with enrollment in hospitals and other places, including job fairs, local libraries, farmer's markets and food pantries. 55,56,57,58,59
- In Maine, referrals from local social services and health departments helped Navigators better target uninsured individuals.60

Agents and Brokers

SBMs vary more in how much they rely on agents and brokers and tend to favor local agents and brokers, who are often key partners for local outreach events and can be especially effective in following up with their enrollees at renewal time. For example:

SBMs vary in how much they rely on agents and brokers and tend to favor local agents.

- The Idaho Marketplace has a robust agent workforce, with over 800 agents and brokers in the state. The State works closely with local agents, sharing information on local agents with consumers seeking health insurance and sharing information with agents on individuals moving from Medicaid to the Marketplace to promote targeted outreach. As a result, agents account for nearly 75% of Idaho's Marketplace enrollment. 61
- Colorado similarly drives nearly 60% of enrollments through local agents, nurturing relationships with agents in targeted communities (i.e., immigrants, people of color) and providing a "broker academy" to encourage more diverse groups to join the broker/agent workforce in the state.

^v In 2018, Pennsylvania received \$400,000 in annual Navigator funding. In 2022, the state spent over \$2 million on Navigator funding after becoming an SBM.

Alternative Channels

SBMs use "broker portals" and similar initiatives to make it easier for carriers and agents to do their own online enrollments, but have shied away from replicating the federal EDE program for various reasons, including branding concerns. Although SBMs have been careful to protect their unique brand as the only entities that can offer premium tax credits for ACA-compliant coverage, SBMs are working with an increasing array of partners to reach their target audiences, and Georgia has included EDE in its outreach strategies.

Exhibit 6. Alternative Enrollment Channels

Recognizing that not all consumers will find their way to Healthcare.gov, CMS has certified a network of Enhanced Direct Enrollment (EDE) partners, whose third-party websites offer the same plan choices as Healthcare.gov and who have been certified to meet federal standards for privacy and security. 62 EDE partners work with insurers, agents and directly with consumers to enroll consumers in Marketplace coverage through their own websites, which some users find to be more user-friendly or intuitive than the FFM. Providing these alternative channels for enrollment enables the FFM to capture enrollees, often

through agents, that may not come through traditional outreach channels, such as individuals with fluctuating employment or gig economy jobs where income varies year-to-year, as well as individuals who contact agents who may or may not promote the ACA Marketplaces depending on how easy the enrollment process is for them. 63 CMS has found the EDE program to be helpful in multiple ways, and the program now accounts for a substantial portion of all FFM enrollment. 64

Enhanced direct enrollment (EDE) now accounts for a substantial portion of Healthcare.gov enrollment.

SBMs have been reluctant to establish similar programs, partly because of oversight concerns. CMS addresses this issue in its 2025 proposed Notice of Benefit and Payment Parameters (NBPP) by requiring SBMs to comply with federal standards for overseeing EDE, which eliminates the challenge of developing a state-specific oversight program, but leaves open the question of how to finance the oversight.⁶⁵

Recommendations: Improving Consumer Assistance and Outreach

CCIIO could help improve consumer outreach for new SBMs by enhancing the SBM Blueprint process and establishing performance standards.

- Blueprint process. CCIIO currently requires states to provide information about the state's consumer outreach plan in its SBM Blueprint. 66 In the proposed 2025 NBPP, CCIIO proposes to build out this process in several directions:
 - Requiring FFM states to spend at least one year as SBM-FPs, during which the state takes on consumer outreach responsibilities, including recruiting and training Navigators and managing other consumer outreach responsibilities.
 - Requiring more documentation of consumer outreach plans in the Blueprint. CCIIO has asked detailed questions of Georgia, 67 and the proposed NBPP would codify CCIIO's position that the agency can ask for whatever information is necessary to assess a state's outreach plan.
 - Requiring a robust public engagement process, with both CCIIO posting the Blueprint application for 90 days and the state holding at least one public engagement session.

Performance standards. CCIIO could also consider minimum performance standards. 68 There are good reasons to be cautious with standards that limit state flexibility, but clear and transparent standards would help ensure accountability and fairness across states as long as the standards allowed flexibility for state innovation.

The most ambitious standard would be a global budgetary one, perhaps starting with more transparency about how SBMs compare in consumer outreach spending. California allocates one-third of its user fees to consumer outreach, which may be a high-end marker, but a standardized budget metric calibrated to Marketplace size would provide a useful measure of state commitment to consumer outreach. Other areas to consider include:

- Stakeholder consultation. Medicaid unwinding has exposed the need for improved Marketplace-Medicaid consultation, and equity considerations are expanding the list of who should be consulted. 69
- Website and call center. Online activity will continue to increase, but call centers will continue to be important. The 2025 NBPP proposes stronger standards for call centers.
- Outreach, education and assistance. Marketplaces should be keeping pace with new technologies (e.g., mobile apps) and new communications (e.g., social media). For assistance, user accounts should include comprehensive information to make it easier to re-apply amid coverage changes.
- Navigators. Navigator funding is perhaps the single best measure of commitment to reaching the uninsured.
- Agents, brokers and web brokers. Support for these traditional forms of business acquisition is one measure of commitment to reaching people cycling in and out of insurance coverage, especially employer-sponsored insurance.

Medicaid-Marketplace Collaboration

Overview. The ACA established requirements for states to implement a coordinated E&E system across all insurance affordability programs—a "no-wrong-door" approach for health insurance consumers. 70 ACA regulations envisioned seamless coordination between state Medicaid agencies and the Marketplaces, enabling consumers to submit a single application to either the Marketplace or state Medicaid agency, receive an

There is more work to be done by both the FFM and SBMs to achieve seamless transitions between the Marketplaces and Medicaid.

eligibility determination and ultimately, be enrolled in the appropriate program.⁷¹ However, both the FFM and SBMs have fallen short of the ACA's goals of a single seamless coverage continuum, with more work to be done by both the FFM and SBMs to ensure smoother coverage transitions between Medicaid and the Marketplaces.

Exhibit 7. Key Terms for Understanding Marketplace Eligibility and Enrollment

- "Single Door" refers to an approach to E&E that is "fully integrated," meaning individuals enter a single door to a single E&E system that is able to determine eligibility across multiple programs, such as Medicaid and the Marketplace.
- "No Wrong Door" refers to an approach to E&E comprised of multiple entry points, but with each capable of referring an individual to the "correct" program. For example, an individual entering through the Medicaid door who is determined ineligible for Medicaid will then be redirected to the Marketplace door for an eligibility determination. Regardless of which door they entered, they are ultimately referred to the right program. This is required by the ACA.
- Determination of Eligibility refers to when a Marketplace "determines" Medicaid eligibility and that determination is transferred to the state Medicaid agency, which accepts the eligibility decision as final and moves the individual directly to program enrollment.
- Assessment of Eligibility refers to when a Marketplace "assesses" an individual's eligibility for Medicaid. That assessment is transferred to the state Medicaid agency, which then reviews the application to make its own final eligibility determination before moving the individual to program enrollment.
- Account Transfer refers to the secure electronic transfer of an individual's "account," or an individual's application for health insurance coverage and other relevant information for purposes of determining eligibility, between one agency and another (usually Medicaid and the Marketplace).

FFM Overview

While first generation SBMs were held to high standards for integration in exchange for generous establishment grants, the FFM was not able to meet such standards for its states. On the policy side, CMS gave the states flexibility to decide whether the FFM would "determine" Medicaid eligibility for the state's enrollees (a binding decision) or would "assess" Medicaid eligibility (leaving the State to make the final decision); most states chose the assessment option. On the technology side, the FFM experienced a variety of technology setbacks. such that the FFM was only able to provide state Medicaid agencies with "account transfers" containing limited information; the FFM also was limited in how it could process information from state Medicaid agencies on potential Marketplace enrollees.

The FFM relies on account transfers to exchange information with state Medicaid agencies, and most states reassess Medicaid eligibility when receiving an account transfer.

SBM Overview

As discussed in the technology section earlier, the first generation SBMs started out with integrated Marketplace-Medicaid E&E systems, largely paid for by federal grants. The second generation states, however, started out with separate Marketplace systems, largely relying on vendors who offered "off the shelf" E&E systems that generally followed the FFM model of coordinating with Medicaid through account transfers.

In practice, however, the sharp distinction between first and second generation technology has become more blurred as first generation SBMs have made various changes to their systems, ranging from full replacements for failed systems to incremental changes in the direction of modularization. Meanwhile, second generation SBMs have adopted various strategies to coordinate their Marketplace and Medicaid E&E systems, often in preparation for the unwinding of Medicaid's continuous coverage provisions.

First Generation SBMs

The 12 first generation SBMs all started with integrated E&E systems that, with some exceptions, offered a "single door" access point for both Marketplace and Medicaid recipients, eliminating the need for account transfers between two systems. However, these states have evolved their systems in different ways as illustrated by the following examples:

The first generation SBMs relied on federal grants to build integrated E&E systems that eliminated the need for account transfers.

- New York continues to rely on its custom-built, back-end system for integrated Medicaid and Marketplace E&E functionalities, while implementing upgrades to its front-end system that seek to improve consumer shopping experience, such as building out a new mobile platform for plan shopping and enrollment.
- California also continues to use its integrated Medicaid and Marketplace eligibility system to perform core E&E functions, while also working to modularize its consumer-facing front end to improve the consumer shopping experience.
- The D.C. Marketplace initially used an integrated E&E system with hard-coded functionalities that offered minimal flexibility, but later transitioned to a cloud-based, open-source SBM platform. D.C.'s new platform

enabled the Marketplace to make system changes in a more cost-effective and timely manner without taking the entire system temporarily offline. For example, D.C. was able to quickly implement the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, calculating the enhanced premium subsidies only weeks after passage of the new law. 72

• Colorado was one of the first states to create an SBM, 73 but a number of technical and operational challenges⁷⁴ led the state to split Marketplace eligibility from Medicaid eligibility in 2019. The SBM is now replacing and custom-building its Marketplace technology entirely in-house.⁷⁵

Colorado and some other first generation SBMs have transitioned to separate eligibility systems to enhance Marketplace flexibility.

- Washington has an integrated platform that performs E&E functions for Medicaid and the Marketplace, as well as for other state benefit programs. The state is thinking through how to transform its legacy system to a more flexible and modular system, without disrupting the various state programs that its legacy system currently supports.⁷⁶
- Minnesota's Marketplace also shares an integrated E&E platform with its Medicaid agency. The state is thinking through how it could implement a more modular solution for the future without disrupting the various agencies currently being serviced by that same platform.⁷⁷
- Idaho leveraged an off-the-shelf SBM vendor to shift the QHP application and eligibility process away from Idaho's Medicaid agency and into the Marketplace, which was able to provide real-time eligibility determinations and offer new self-service capabilities for enrollees.

Second Generation SBMs

In 2020, Nevada became the first state to successfully rely on second generation technology to become a full SBM for the second time, having fallen back to SBM-FP status in 2015 because of technology challenges. Nevada did not attempt an integrated build the second time around, but instead sought to "mirror" the FFM with a separate Marketplace technology platform that was coordinated through "account transfers" rather than integrated

with its sister Medicaid agency to provide a smooth consumer experience. In practice, Nevada found that implementing account transfers between two state agencies led to discussions that improved that process and provided a stepping stone to other collaboration, including working together on public option legislation.

The six other states that have fully operational second generation SBMs all have followed Nevada's lead in building separate SBM platforms that are coordinated rather than integrated with Medicaid, though each of them has taken important steps to forge an effective partnership with its Medicaid counterpart.

Second generation SBMs did not have the resources to build integrated systems and generally followed the FFM model of using account transfers to coordinate two separate E&E systems.

• Pennsylvania used the same SBM vendor as Nevada and chose to keep its SBM build as simple as possible by not incorporating Medicaid integration goals into its SBM build. In practice, however, the Pennsylvania SBM has developed a close working relationship with its sister Medicaid agency, including development of a cost allocation plan with Medicaid that results in Medicaid covering over 30% of the SBM's budget. Coordination between the two state programs has intensified in the Medicaid unwinding, with the SBM offering prepopulated applications to people losing Medicaid who appear to be eligible for Marketplace coverage.

- New Jersey was the first second generation SBM to incorporate Medicaid integration into its enabling legislation. In seeking an SBM vendor, New Jersey requested vendors to propose a two-step process with a separate SBM platform to start, followed by a second step to achieve the integration with Medicaid required by the legislation. The second step is underway, but it has proven challenging, partly because Medicaid and the SBM are housed in different umbrella departments.78
- Maine explored an integrated approach but decided it was not practical given the status of the Medicaid E&E system and the competing priorities the state had for improving that system. However, Maine did decide to house the SBM in the same umbrella department as Medicaid to maximize coordination between the two programs, which was particularly important since Medicaid expansion and the SBM transition occurred in the same time frame.
- New Mexico chose an SBM vendor with Medicaid experience because Medicaid coordination was a high priority in a state with a larger portion of its population in Medicaid than any other state. New Mexico has explored multiple versions of a public option that would extend eligibility for Medicaid-like coverage to some or all of the Marketplace population.
- Kentucky was a first generation SBM with an integrated legacy system that it later turned back on when a new governor returned the state to full SBM status. Kentucky houses its SBM in the same umbrella department as Medicaid and manages the two programs together.
- Virginia became the first second generation SBM to choose a determination model, which means that eligibility decisions made by the SBM platform are binding on the Medicaid agency, as a way to forge better coordination between the SBM and Medicaid. One reason Virginia chose that model was because the state wanted to avoid having to put Marketplace applicants determined eligible for Medicaid in a queue for the Medicaid agency to then rerun the process.

Virginia's Medicaid program treats SBM eligibility decisions as binding to avoid having to reassess Marketplace applicants determined eligible for Medicaid.

As these examples illustrate, there are multiple ways that first or second generation SBMs with separate E&E systems today can move toward functional coordination and even integration. As the results of the Medicaid unwinding continue to unfold, it is likely that there will be discussion of how to make more progress toward the seamless coverage continuum envisioned by the ACA. There may be some progress in that direction by **Illinois**, which is slated to become a full SBM in 2026. The Illinois SBM will be housed in the state's insurance department, but the enabling legislation called for the state Medicaid agency to conduct the procurement for a Marketplace vendor as a means to explore all options for a more integrated approach to Marketplace and Medicaid E&E.

In sum, a highly coordinated, "no wrong door" approach has now been successfully accomplished in seven second-generation states with four SBM vendors, providing a strong stepping stone for states seeking to implement an SBM while working toward Medicaid integration. However, achieving seamless transitions between the Marketplace and Medicaid with two separate systems requires strong state commitment and alignment in priorities and goals across the two agencies, which varies highly state-by-state. Many

Achieving seamless transitions between the Marketplace and Medicaid with two separate systems requires alignment in priorities and goals across the two agencies.

states with separate SBM vendors are continuing to work towards better coordination with Medicaid after implementing a separate Marketplace system.

Exhibit 8. Automatic Enrollment

The public health emergency's (PHE) unwinding provides a graphic illustration of how difficult it remains for enrollees losing Medicaid to transition to Marketplace coverage where eligible. MedPAC found that, in 2019, only 3% of those losing Medicaid ended up with Marketplace coverage. This is a much larger issue than technology, with some people unable to afford Marketplace subsidies, even with minimal cost sharing. On the technology side, California has been a leader in creating an automatic enrollment pathway from Medicaid to Marketplace coverage with a 2019 law that authorizes Covered California to automatically enroll consumers in a QHP when they lose Medi-Cal coverage and gain eligibility for APTCs. 79 Rhode Island has a similar program.80

Marketplace-Medicaid coordination strategies. The unwinding of the Medicaid continuous coverage provisions has demonstrated the importance of having close working relationships between Marketplace and Medicaid officials to advance a continuum of coordination strategies designed to minimize coverage gaps for people losing Medicaid and eligible for Marketplace coverage. Examples of strategies to facilitate coordination across Medicaid and the Marketplace include:81

Marketplace and Medicaid officials continue to advance a continuum of coordination strategies to minimize coverage gaps.

- Providing longer notice to individuals before their Medicaid coverage ends to minimize gaps in coverage;
- Requiring QHP issuers to permit retroactive Marketplace enrollment to avoid coverage gaps;
- Communicating to individuals about coverage terminations though multiple channels—including electronically to help ensure prompt receipt;
- Extending the 60-day special enrollment period deadline for Marketplace enrollment after Medicaid coverage ends; and
- Using account transfer and other available information to prepopulate Marketplace applications, among other strategies.

On the federal level, CMS leadership has expressed a commitment to improving coordination between the FFM and Medicaid on issues such as account transfers.

CMS leadership has expressed a commitment to improving coordination between the FFM and Medicaid on account transfers.

Recommendations: Improving Medicaid Collaboration

New SBM states should consider all of the strategies noted in this section for improving coordination between the SBM and the state Medicaid agency, but should also go bigger and consider a couple overarching strategies to improve Marketplace-Medicaid collaboration:

- Expand Medicaid. Every SBM state prior to Georgia had fully expanded Medicaid, with dramatic impact on the uninsured rate. Conversely, nearly half of the remaining FFM states have not expanded Medicaid. CCIIO may not have the authority to require Medicaid expansion for future SBM applicants, but willingness to take this step is certainly a measure of how serious a state is about reducing its uninsured rate.
- Policy alignment. Marketplace and Medicaid coverages are converging in a number of areas that make it easier for consumers to move back and forth between the two programs. These include benefits, network adequacy standards and care management.82

CCIIO's standards for second generation SBMs allow states to have a separate E&E system for the Marketplace, but still require states to fulfill the statutory mandate of using a common application regardless of whether the applicant comes through a Marketplace or Medicaid door (the "no wrong door" approach). This approach requires close coordination between the two state agencies to make the process more or less seamless for the consumer. Performance standards that could be adopted by CCIIO to maximize coordination could start with two issues:

- Common application. CCIIO could be more prescriptive as to what exactly it means to have a common application, given that online applications are constantly evolving and dynamic, with multiple pathways possible depending on how the applicant answers each question. As SBMs continue to improve their applications, CCIIO could focus on ensuring that new best practices are quickly adopted by other SBMs in areas like ensuring that applicants only have to answer questions once for purposes of identity proofing, account set-up, income verification and other similar functions.
- Determination model. A growing number of states treat eligibility decisions by the FFM as binding or determinative of eligibility for Medicaid. Virginia moved to the "determination" model when it launched its SBM to avoid a backlog in its Medicaid eligibility process. This did not appreciably change the requirements for the Virginia SBM vendor, suggesting that CCIIO would not be imposing any significant new operational burdens were it to require SBM states to treat all SBM MAGI-based income decisions as determinative for both Marketplace and Medicaid income eligibility.

Other areas where best practices could evolve into performance standards include:

- Account transfers. Neither Medicaid nor Marketplaces have perfected their account transfer processes. More accurate and comprehensive data mean fewer cases requiring multiple transfers across agencies.
- Cost allocation. Many SBMs have both improved coordination with Medicaid and enhanced their budgets by identifying areas where mutually beneficial coordination can be partially paid for by Medicaid under cost allocation rules.

Recommendations: Improving Medicaid Collaboration

- Common agency. Many SBMs house their Marketplaces in the same department that houses Medicaid to facilitate closer working relationships between the two programs. A common agency also makes it easier to have coordinated (or combined) notices and combined accounts for the two programs, and to create shopping tools that are tailored to mixed eligibility households (households that may include both Medicaid/CHIP and Marketplace members). Regardless of whether state agencies are working within an intra- or inter-agency context, clear governance remains critical for ensuring alignment across the two programs.
- Sharing procurement responsibilities. Illinois has charged its Medicaid agency with procuring a Marketplace vendor to facilitate close coordination between the two E&E systems.

CCIIO also could explore "single door" strategies, but even if there were funds available to build fullyintegrated systems as first generation SBM states did, the trend across most SBM states is to transition away from fully-integrated Medicaid and Marketplace E&E legacy systems and toward more flexible, modular E&E systems.

Policy Innovation

Overview

The ACA established critical new consumer protections for the insurance-buying public and provided federal subsidies to make coverage more affordable, but the law also retained the states' role as the primary regulators of

individual and small group health insurance in their states, including the authority to enhance affordability through state-based subsidies and pursue other policy initiatives through state innovation waivers under Section 1332. Those waivers were used sparingly by the states in the first decade, with the exception of 19 reinsurance waivers, but SBM states are beginning to pursue broader innovations that are likely to expand in the next decade.

The ACA retained the states' regulatory role and provided for state innovation waivers to allow states to test new ideas.

FFM Overview

Healthcare.gov has successfully implemented several policy innovations in federal law, including enhanced federal subsidies through the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA), but those subsidies are scheduled to end for 2026. vi If those subsidies are not renewed, SBM states will have policy options to reduce the harm to consumers. In contrast, FFM states will be much more limited since, at least to date, the FFM has not been able to accommodate state-by-state differences in subsidy policy or in other areas of state innovation. The Trump Administration proposed some 1332

The FFM has not been able to accommodate most forms of state innovation, limiting options in FFM states primarily to reinsurance waivers.

waiver options for FFM states, but the proposals were of limited utility to states, as indicated by the fact that no state attempted to use the offered flexibility. The Trump Administration did approve a Georgia 1332 waiver for a

privatized ACA Marketplace, but that waiver was challenged by the Biden Administration and has since been abandoned by Georgia. The Biden Administration has not offered any new flexibility to FFM states but has approved broader 1332 waivers for four SBM states—Colorado, Maine, New York and Washington—in the last two years.

The Biden Administration has approved four broad innovation waivers for SBM states in the last two years.

vi In 2020, Congress passed ARPA, which provided enhanced subsidies that improved the amount of financial help available to individuals already eligible for financial assistance to purchase health insurance and also expanded subsidies for new populations as well previously ineligible for financial assistance. These subsidies were intended to last for two years (2021 and 2022) but were later extended for three years (through 2025) as part of the Inflation Reduction Act.

SBM Overview

There are 12 SBMs and SBM-FPs that have reinsurance programs, and a majority of SBMs have also taken steps to improve consumer affordability with state-based subsidy programs and streamlined access with easy enrollment programs. Most states have not benefited from 1332 waiver funding for these programs, but SBMs have taken note of recent approvals for broader waivers, and most SBMs have innovative plans on the drawing board. In the next decade, SBMs are likely to test the flexibility of federal regulators to approve 1332 waiver proposals that have widespread positive impacts on affordability and access for vulnerable populations, but also may involve slightly higher costs for some people. It is also possible that FFM and SBM-FP states will test what innovations are possible on the federal platform, but to date, states with innovative ideas have had to become SBMs to accomplish their goals.

SBMs have developed innovative policy in five areas summarized in Exhibit 10. In each of these areas, SBMs have more flexibility than FFM and SBM-FP states, which are limited by the inflexibility of the federal platform to accommodate stateby-state variation.

SBMs have developed innovative policy ideas in five areas, many of which do not require innovation waivers.

Reinsurance

Of the 19 reinsurance waivers approved by CCIIO, 11 have gone to SBM states. These waivers have helped stabilize the Marketplaces after the federal reinsurance program that initially accompanied the implementation of

the health insurance Marketplaces ended in 2016. Reinsurance programs remain critical in some states with volatile market conditions. but their value is generally receding as Marketplaces have increased insurer competition and reduced premium volatility. In addition, reinsurance does not improve consumer affordability for subsidized consumers since the amount they owe toward premiums is based on their income and does not change when premiums increase or decrease.

There are 19 states that have established reinsurance programs but their value is receding as Marketplaces have become more stable in recent years.

For these reasons, the 19 states with reinsurance waivers may wish to reconsider their waivers, especially if the enhanced federal subsidies are renewed for 2026, meaning that the vast majority of Marketplace enrollees remain subsidized and do not directly benefit from reinsurance. This would be totally feasible for SBM states, but the eight FFM states with reinsurance programs would have limited flexibility to redirect the state share of reinsurance waivers to state-based subsidies given the FFM's inflexibility. Indeed, no FFM or SBM-FP state has enacted a direct subsidy program. This limitation will become a significant liability in the next two years as states consider their options in the event that enhanced federal subsidies are terminated for 2026.

State Subsidies

A majority of SBM states have supplemented federal subsidies with state subsidies to improve premium and/or cost-sharing affordability for enrollees. States can target subsidies by income level, by age, or even for certain categories of individuals, such as certain workers, parents or caregivers. See Exhibit 9.

Ten SBM states have supplemented federal subsidies with state ones.

Exhibit 9. State Subsidy Programs

State	Subsidy Type	Income Level for Subsidy Eligibility	Target Population
СТ	Premium and Cost-Sharing	Up to 175% FPL	Everyone APTC-eligible, with targeted subsidies for parents and caregivers
CA	Cost-Sharing*	Up to 250% FPL	Everyone APTC-eligible
WA	Premium	Up to 250% FPL	APTC-eligible individuals enrolled in gold and silver standardized plans
VT	Premium and Cost-Sharing	200%–300% (CSRs) Up to 300% of FPL (premium)	Everyone APTC-eligible
со	Premium and Cost-Sharing	Up to 300% FPL	Everyone APTC-eligible and certain benefits for non-APTC eligible
MD	Premium	Up to 400% FPL	Young adults (age 18–34) APTC- eligible
NM	Premium and Cost-Sharing	Up to 400% FPL	Everyone APTC-eligible
MA	Premium and Cost-Sharing	Up to 500% FPL	Everyone APTC-eligible
NJ	Premium	Up to 600% of FPL	Everyone APTC-eligible
DC	Premiums	No income limit	Employees of OSSE-licensed early childcare learning centers and homes, regardless of immigration status, for silver plans

^{*}California previously had a premium subsidy program from 2020–2021 that was transitioned to a cost-sharing reduction for 2023.

The distinction between premium subsidies and cost sharing reductions is an important one; states vary between the two and some have both. Where feasible, the flexibility to choose one or the other, on an annual basis, may be the best approach. For example, California previously had premium subsidies but switched to cost sharing reductions because of the enhanced federal premium subsidies. If, however, those federal subsidies are not extended beyond 2025, the case for premium subsidies will become stronger. Conversely, if federal premium subsidies are extended, it may be that cost sharing reductions will be the more needed subsidy at the state level given the interplay between premiums and cost sharing in determining affordability for consumers, especially those with more limited incomes and even less wealth to fall back on in the event of an expensive medical bill not covered by their plan.

Exhibit 10. SBM Policy Innovation

SBM/SBM-FP States	Reinsurance 1332 Waiver	State Subsidies	Easy Enrollment	1332 Waiver (Non- Reinsurance)	Basic Health Program
California		✓	✓		
Colorado	✓	√	✓	✓	
Connecticut		✓			
D.C.		√			
Idaho	✓				
Kentucky					
Maine	✓		✓	✓	
Maryland	✓	✓	✓		
Massachusetts		✓	✓		
Minnesota	✓				√
Nevada				✓	
New Jersey	✓	√	✓		
New Mexico		✓	✓		
New York				✓	
Pennsylvania	✓		✓		
Rhode Island	✓				
Vermont		✓			
Virginia	✓		✓		
Washington		✓		✓	
Arkansas*					
Georgia*	✓				
Oregon*	✓				√ **
Total	11	10	9	5	2

^{*} Arkansas, Georgia, Oregon are SBM-FPs.
** Oregon is implementing a Basic Health Program in July 2024.

Easy Enrollment

Starting with Maryland, SBMs have used their flexibility to work with state tax agencies to expand enrollment through "easy enrollment" programs.83

• Maryland's program allows residents to choose to share their insurance status, income and other necessary information to receive an eligibility determination for Medicaid and Marketplace plans, and if appropriate, an opportunity to enroll into coverage. 84,85 Other states following suit in implementing similar programs include Colorado, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, Virginia, New Mexico, New Jersey, Maine, California and Illinois.86,87

Ten SBM states have worked with state tax agencies to adopt easy enrollment programs.

 Note that California, Massachusetts and New Jersey also have individual mandates that make easy enrollment programs even more effective. 88 In mandate states, the state has the option of allowing consumers to choose between paying a penalty for not having insurance or redirecting the penalty amount toward enrolling in coverage.

Public Option

After a federal public option was struck from the final version of the ACA, multiple SBM states have explored a state-level version, including Colorado, New Mexico, Washington and Nevada. In 2022, Colorado won 1332 waiver approval for the first broadly available public option the "Colorado Option"—with the following features:

Colorado was the first SBM state to win approval for a broad public option approach.

- Carriers that offer individual and small group plans must also offer a standardized Colorado Option plan, both on- and off-Marketplace.
- Colorado Option plans must meet statutory premium reduction targets.
- The State will enforce statutory premium reduction targets in the Colorado Option, with a backstop enforcement mechanism to achieve compliance.
- Beginning in 2024, the law provides the State the authority to hold hearings and require providers to accept the rates necessary for carriers to meet premium reduction targets.
- The standardized Colorado Option plans must meet key health equity requirements, including providing culturally responsive networks and offering first-dollar, predeductible coverage of primary, behavioral and perinatal health services.
- Pass-through savings fund a subsidy program for Coloradans who are ineligible for federal subsidies, without regard to immigration status.

In December 2022, Washington received approval for a 1332 waiver authorizing Washington's SBM to expand access to health and dental plans for state residents across all incomes, regardless of their immigration status, beginning January 1, 2024. Washington's waiver also provides \$50 million in state subsidies to improve affordability for state residents with incomes at or below 250% FPL.89 Nevada is developing a public option implemented through a 1332 waiver, scheduled for implementation in 2026.90

Basic Health Program

New York and Minnesota are the only states that have implemented a Basic Health Program (BHP) under Section 1331 of the ACA, though New York's program was recently suspended under an innovation waiver that expands BHP-like coverage to a broader group than is allowed under BHP rules.vii Both state programs provide robust benefits for individuals with incomes between 138–200% FPL and feature low-to-no-premiums and cost sharing for enrollees and have demonstrated strong and consistent enrollment in the years since their establishment. Having an SBM was helpful for the implementation of each of these programs.

New York recently extended BHP-like coverage to enrollees up to 250% of FPL.

Oregon is scheduled to launch the third state BHP in July 2024 to achieve two primary policy goals; preserve the Medicaid coverage gains from the federal COVID-19 PHE continuous coverage requirement and expand the role of coordinated care organizations—Oregon's Medicaid managed care entities—to all Oregonians with incomes up to 200% FPL. Without an SBM in place, Oregon has had to resolve a number of operational and implementation

Oregon is on track to become the third BHP state in July 2024.

issues associated with relying on the FFM platform while pursuing a state-specific innovation. Oregon is already anticipating potential enhancements to its BHP when it transitions back to a full SBM in 2027.

Addressing Racial and Ethnic Disparities

While all states can and should implement efforts to advance health equity and address racial and ethnic disparities, having an SBM may provide states with additional opportunities as well as greater flexibility and authority to comprehensively identify and address racial and ethnic disparities in coverage, access to services and even plan/network designs. Many SBMs are pursuing comprehensive and innovative strategies to advance health equity in their state, including:

All states can address racial and ethnic disparities, though SBMs have more flexibility.

• Designing plans to meet the needs of communities of color and/or underrepresented communities. The D.C. Health Link required adoption of a new condition-specific plan design that eliminates cost-sharing for Type 2 diabetes care, which disproportionately impacts patients of color in DC.91,92 The Massachusetts93 Health Connector also pursued a similar strategy, offering \$0 cost-sharing in the ConnectorCare program for diabetes, asthma, coronary artery disease and hypertension—conditions that disproportionately affect communities of color in Massachusetts, in 2023.94 Colorado revised its Essential Health Benefits benchmark plan to add some \$0 care, as well as to affirm and clarify the requirement for coverage of gender-affirming care. 95,96

vii New York's 1332 waiver required suspension of the BHP since the waiver expands coverage to 250% of FPL, and the BHP is limited by statute to those under 200% FPL. In essence, however, the NY plan is an expansion of the BHP plan to a larger group.

• Developing culturally competent networks. The Colorado Option statutory language includes a requirement that Colorado Option plans "have a network that is culturally responsive and, to the greatest extent possible, reflects the diversity of its enrollees in terms of race, ethnicity, gender identity and sexual orientation in the area that the network exists"97

The Colorado Option requires culturally responsive provider networks that reflect the diversity of enrollees.

• Enhancing race and ethnicity data collection, analysis and use. California 98 requires its insurers to collect "self-identified race and ethnicity data" for at least 80% of marketplace enrollees, 99 and requires insurers to create goals, based on collected data, to improve quality and increase equity. Financial incentives are tied to insurers' use of data to drive improvements in quality of care. 100

Recommendations: Improving Policy Innovation

"Required innovation" sounds like an oxymoron, and CCIIO does not have the authority to require new SBMs to be innovative. That said, CCIIO could add a section to the SBM Blueprint that asked questions about SBM plans with respect to reinsurance, state subsidies, easy enrollment or other common innovations. And over time, certain innovations, such as standardized plans, could evolve into requirements to the extent that certain approaches prove most effective for consumers. CCIIO also could extend certain regulations that are only applicable to FFM states today to all Marketplaces.

Approaches to innovation that CCIIO could consider include:

- Checklists for approved waivers. For innovations CCIIO has already approved, the agency could provide checklists that streamline the process for other states that may be interested in pursuing similar innovations. For example, CCIIO has published a simple checklist for 1332 reinsurance waivers that has helped streamline the approval process. Similar checklists could be developed for newer waivers, such as the Colorado Option, though it would be a more complicated checklist than the reinsurance one.
- Templates for new waivers. CCIIO could take this a step further and propose waiver ideas that it believes would further the goals of the ACA even if no state has yet proposed the idea. The Trump Administration pursued this idea in 2018 and 2019, when CCIIO released guidance that provided checklists for states that might be interested in pursuing various 1332 waiver concepts under the rubric of "State Relief and Empowerment Waivers." That effort failed with no state taking up the proposed concepts and critics questioning whether the concepts met the 1332 waiver statutory guardrails. Nevertheless, the idea of CCIIO helping guide states toward the most promising concepts is one that could be helpful if it were done in a way that met the 1332 guardrails and helped advance the goals of the ACA. 101, 102

Conclusion

As the ACA Marketplaces enter their second decade with a record enrollment of 21.4 million, there are still large disparities in the uninsured rate between states that have expanded Medicaid and established an SBM and those that have not. The small minority of states that have not yet expanded Medicaid continue to have average uninsured rates in the double digits (10.3% in 2022) and could cut that rate by a third were they to join the majority of FFM states that have expanded Medicaid (7.0% average uninsured rate in 2022).

The case for also establishing an SBM is not as open and shut, since the choice is not SBM or no Marketplace. In fact, the ACA requires a Federally-Facilitated Marketplace (FFM) in any state that does not establish an SBM. The FFM has also been a success story in the ACA's first decade, providing a vibrant Marketplace for 32 states. States that do not have a strong statebased health reform agenda should continue to be well-served by the FFM, though there is always the potential for a new presidential administration to change the course of ACA implementation.

For states that do have their own health reform agenda and want to better control their own destiny, the SBM states demonstrate that SBMs do offer significant advantages over the FFM, particularly in allowing states to expand and better target consumer outreach, improve collaboration between their Marketplace and their state Medicaid agency, and to enact state subsidies and pursue other policy innovations that require the flexibility of an SBM. As of 2022, the 19 SBM states (all of whom had expanded Medicaid) had an average uninsured rate of 5.8%, and many of them had cut their uninsured rate substantially more.

States that do not have a strong state-based health reform agenda should continue to be well-served by the FFM.

For states that do have their own reform agenda, SBMs do offer significant advantages over the FFM.

The country is in the middle of a major expansion of SBMs—from 12 SBMs in 2017 to 22 SBMs in 2027, with many other states taking a second look as well. If past is prologue, there will continue to be bumps in the road as the federal government decides on the appropriate level of federal subsidies and countless other issues. States that establish SBMs will not be immune from those federal decisions, but they will have many more tools at their disposal to chart their own health reform path.

Appendix: Interviewee Names and Affiliations

Name	Title (at time of interview)	Interview Date	
Zach Sherman	Executive Director. Pennie	June 28, 2022	
Mila Kofman	Executive Director, D.C. Health Benefit Exchange Authority	June 28, 2022	
Pat Kelly	Executive Director, Your Health Idaho	June 30, 2022	
Kevin Patterson	Chief Executive Officer, Connect for Health Colorado	July 1, 2022	
Jessica Altman	Chief Executive Officer, Covered California	July 6, 2022	
Meg Garratt Reed	Director, Maine's Office of Health Insurance Marketplace	July 12, 2022	
Danielle Holahan	Executive Director, New York State of Health	July 18, 2022	
Michael Marchand	Chief Marketing Officer, Washington Health Benefit Exchange	July 18, 2022	
Michele Eberle	Executive Director, Maryland Health Benefit Exchange	July 19, 2022	
Chiqui Flowers	Administrator, Oregon Health Insurance Marketplace	July 19, 2022	

402792531.27

- ² R. Schwab, J. Volk. States Looking to Run Their Own Health Insurance Marketplace Sees Opportunity for Funding, Flexibility, The Commonwealth Fund. June 28, 2019. Accessed January 27, 2023. Available at: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2019/states-looking-to-run-their-own-health-insurance-marketplace-seeopportunity.
- ³ Press Release: In Celebration of 10 Years of ACA Marketplaces, the Biden-Harris Administration Releases Historic Enrollment Data, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. March 22, 2024. Accessed March 24, 2024. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2024/03/22/celebration-10-years-aca-marketplaces-bidenharris-administration-releases-historic-enrollment-data.html.
- ⁴ Kaiser Family Foundation. Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population, 2022. KFF. Accessed January 27, 2023. Available at: https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/totalpopulation/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- ⁵ Overview of Health Insurance Exchanges, Congressional Research Service. Updated February 16, 2021. Accessed January 27, 2023. Available at: https://sgp.fas.org/crs/misc/R44065.pdf.
- ⁶ R. Schwab, J. Volk. States Looking to Run Their Own Health Insurance Marketplace Sees Opportunity for Funding, Flexibility, The Commonwealth Fund. June 28, 2019. Accessed January 27, 2023. Available at: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2019/states-looking-to-run-their-own-health-insurance-marketplace-seeopportunity.
- ⁷ Kaiser Family Foundation. Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population, 2022. KFF. Accessed January 27, 2023. Available at: https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/totalpopulation/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- ⁸ Historic 21.3 million People Choose ACA Marketplace Coverage, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. January 24, 2024. Accessed January 24, 2024. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2024/01/24/historic-21-million-people-choose-aca-marketplacecoverage.html#:~:text=The%20federal%202024%20Marketplace%20Open,Marketplace%20Open%20Enrollment %20Fact%20Sheet.
- ⁹ Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight (CCIO) Fact Sheet: State Effective Rate Review Programs, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid. April 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Fact-Sheets-and-FAQs/rate review fact sheet.
- ¹⁰ 45 CFR Part 155: Exchange Establishment Standards and Other Related Standards Under the Affordable Care Act, Department of Health and Human Services. February 2012. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-45/subtitle-A/subchapter-B/part-155.
- ¹¹ S. Corlette, R. Swindle, R. Schwab. More Than a Website: Should the Federal Government Establish Additional Minimum Standards for the ACA's Health Insurance Marketplaces?, May 2023. CHIRblog. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://chirblog.org/more-than-a-website-should-the-federal-government-establish-additionalminimum-standards-for-the-acas-health-insurance-marketplaces/.
- ¹² NAIC 2023 Fall National Meeting, Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee meeting materials and minutes. Accessed January 27, 2023. Full presentation available at: https://content.naic.org/sites/default/files/national_meeting/Health%20Insurance%20Committee%20Meeting%20 Materials%20rev%2012-2.pdf.

¹ Overview of Health Insurance Exchanges, Congressional Research Service. Updated February 16, 2021. Accessed January 27, 2023. Available at: https://sgp.fas.org/crs/misc/R44065.pdf.

- ¹³ J. Ario, A. Zhan. Technology Opportunities for the ACA Marketplaces, Manatt Health. December 2020. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.manatt.com/Manatt/media/Documents/Articles/RWJF-Technology-Opportunities-for-the-ACA-Marketplaces-December-2020 FOR-WEB.pdf.
- ¹⁴ Marketplace Plan Year 2024 Open Enrollment Fact Sheet, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). October 25, 2023. Accessed March 2024. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/marketplace-plan-year-2024-open-enrollment-fact-sheet.
- ¹⁵ Marketplace 2023 Open Enrollment Fact Sheet, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). January 25, 2023. Accessed March 2024. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/files/document/102622-landscape-and-window-shopping-508.pdf.
- ¹⁶ P. Herd and D. P. Moynihan. Administrative Burdens: Policymaking by Other Means, Russell Sage Foundation. January 9, 2019. Accessed January 27, 2023. ISBN 9781610448789, 1610448782.
- ¹⁷ A. L. Mach, C. S. Redhead. Federal Funding for Health Insurance Exchanges, Congressional Research Service. October 29, 2014. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://sgp.fas.org/crs/misc/R43066.pdf.
- ¹⁸ California Health Insurance Marketplace Grants Awards List, CCIIO. n.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Marketplace-Grants/ca.
- ¹⁹ Integrating services: Program evolution in New York, Maximus. June 17, 2020. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://maximus.com/case-study/integrating-services-program-evolution-new-york.
- ²⁰ New York Health Insurance Marketplace Grants Awards List, CCIIO. n.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Marketplace-Grants/ny.
- ²¹ At a Glance: 2020 Open Enrollment Report, NY State of Health. N.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://info.nystateofhealth.ny.gov/sites/default/files/2020%20NY%20State%20of%20Health%20Open%20Enrollment%20Report.pdf.
- ²² Non-MAGI Medicaid eligibility was not included in New York's original build and remains separate from its eligibility and enrollment (E&E) system today.
- ²³ Washington Health Insurance Marketplace Grants Awards List, CCIIO. n.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Marketplace-Grants/wa.
- ²⁴ S. Artiga, J. Tolbert, R. Rudowitz. Year Two of the ACA Coverage Expansions: On-the-Ground Experiences from Five States, KFF. June 22, 2015. Accessed August 2023. Available at: https://www.kff.org/report-section/year-two-of-the-aca-coverage-expansions-on-the-ground-experiences-from-five-states-issue-brief/.
- ²⁵ Kentucky Affordable Insurance Exchange Grants Awards List, CCIIO. n.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Marketplace-Grants/ky.
- ²⁶ The Share of Americans without Health Insurance in 2022 Matched a Record Low, Peter G. Peterson Foundation. November 9, 2023. Accessed January 25, 2024. Available at: https://www.pgpf.org/blog/2023/11/the-share-of-americans-without-health-insurance-in-2022-matched-a-record-low.
- ²⁷ J. Tolbert, P. Drake, A. Damico. Key Facts about the Uninsured Population, KFF. December 18, 2023. Accessed January 2024. Available at: https://www.kff.org/uninsured/issue-brief/key-facts-about-the-uninsured-population/.
- ²⁸ T. Burke, B. Sobolewski, and A. Mar. 5 Themes to Watch as the ACA Heads into its Second Decade, Oliver Wyman. N.d. Accessed January 2024. Available at: https://www.oliverwyman.com/our-expertise/perspectives/health/2023/dec/5-themes-to-watch-as-the-aca-heads-into-its-second-decade.html?utm_source=dynamics-marketing&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=owhealth-

newsletter&utm_content=29-dec-2023&utm_id=cmp-15920-m7n9v1#msdynttrid=OYgLI9meqzriDFsHtclWdvDeZVvu-zgdkUtbQfdqq_w.

- ²⁹ Requirements for Consumer Assistance Tools and Programs include: Stakeholder Consultation, Call Center, Website, Outreach and Education, Consumer Assistance, Navigator Programs, Certified Application Counselors (CACs), Agents and Brokers (if applicable), and Web Brokers (if applicable). Source: Blueprint for Approval of State-Based Health Insurance Exchanges, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight (CCIIO). N.d. Accessed July 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Fact-Sheets-and-FAQs/Downloads/CMS-Blueprint-Application.pdf.
- ³⁰ 2022 CMS Navigator Cooperative Agreement Awardees, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. August 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/files/document/2022-navigator-grant-recipients.pdf.
- ³¹ J. Ario, A. Garcimonde, J. Kingsdale. Understanding the Potential Role Web Brokers Can Play in State-Based Marketplaces, State Health Reform Assistance Network. June 2014. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.shvs.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/State-Network-Manatt-Wakely-Web-Brokers-June-2014.pdf.
- ³² CCIIO Data Brief Series, Impact of Enhanced Direct Enrollment During the Open Enrollment Period for 2021 Coverage, CCIIO. January 2021. Accessed January 2024. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Forms-Reports-and-Other-Resources/Downloads/Impact-EDE-OEP-2021-Coverage.pdf.
- ³³ Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions: Interactive Map, December 1, 2023. KFF. Accessed January 2023. Available here: https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map/.
- ³⁴ Based on 2022 data, the latest full year of uninsurance data available by state from KFF, using data from 2008-2022 American Community Survey, 1-Year Estimates.
- ³⁵ Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population, KFF. N.d. Accessed January 2024. Available at: https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/total-population/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- ³⁶ Kaiser Family Foundation. Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population, 2022. KFF. Accessed January 27, 2023. Available at: https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/total-population/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- ³⁷ Uninsured Rate Declined in 28 States 2019-2021, US Census. September 15, 2022. Accessed July 2023. Available at: https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2022/09/uninsured-rate-declined-in-28-states.html.
- ³⁸ J. Stephenson. Outreach Strategies Helped Boost Enrollment in State-Based Health Insurance Marketplaces, JAMA. November 8, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama-health-forum/fullarticle/2798513.
- ³⁹ R. Schwab, R. Swindle, J. Giovannelli. State-Based Marketplace Outreach Strategies for Boosting Health Plan Enrollment of the Uninsured, October 25, 2022. Accessed January 2024. Available at: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2022/oct/state-based-outreach-boosting-enrollment-uninsured.
- ⁴⁰ R. Schwab, R. Swindle, J. Giovannelli. State-Based Marketplace Outreach Strategies for Boosting Health Plan Enrollment of the Uninsured, October 25, 2022. Accessed January 2024. Available at: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2022/oct/state-based-outreach-boosting-enrollment-uninsured.
- ⁴¹ R. Schwab, R. Swindle, J. Giovannelli. State-Based Marketplace Outreach Strategies for Boosting Health Plan Enrollment of the Uninsured, The Commonwealth Fund. October 25, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at:

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2022/oct/state-based-outreach-boosting-enrollment-uninsured#24.

- ⁴² Funds of \$96.7 million for marketing, \$45.1 million for outreach and sales; the remaining funds are for communications and PR and program integrity. Covered California Annual Report and Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget, Covered California. July 16, 2020. Accessed June 2023. Available at:https://hbex.coveredca.com/financial-reports/PDFs/2020/fy-2020-21-annual-report-final.pdf.
- ⁴³ Covered California Annual Report and Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget, Covered California. July 16, 2020. Accessed June 2023. Available at:https://hbex.coveredca.com/financial-reports/PDFs/2020/fy-2020-21-annual-report-final.pdf.
- ⁴⁴ Marketing, Outreach & Enrollment Assistance Advisory Group, Covered California. August 31, 2022, Virtual Meeting. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hbex.coveredca.com/stakeholders/Marketing-Outreach-Enrollment/PDFs/MOEA Presentation 8-31-2022-FINAL v2.pdf.
- ⁴⁵ Marketing, Outreach & Enrollment Assistance Stakeholders Advisory Group: Background Reading, Covered California. N.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hbex.coveredca.com/stakeholders/Marketing-Outreach-Enrollment/PDFs/Background Reading.pdf.
- ⁴⁶ Covered California Annual Report and Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget, Covered California. July 16, 2020. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hbex.coveredca.com/financial-reports/PDFs/2020/fy-2020-21-annual-report-final.pdf.
- ⁴⁷ Personalized Telephone Outreach Increased Health Insurance Take-Up For Hard-To-Reach Populations, But Challenges Remain, Health Affairs. January 2022. Accessed March 2023. Available at: https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/hlthaff.2021.01000.
- ⁴⁸ "Covered California's Approach to Promoting the American Rescue Plan: Target Groups and Strategic Approaches," Covered California. March 18, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.coveredca.com/pdfs/news/Att1_CoveredCA_ARP-Promo_Targets_Strategies.pdf.
- ⁴⁹ Marketing, Outreach & Enrollment Assistance Stakeholders Advisory Group: Background Reading, Covered California. N.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hbex.coveredca.com/stakeholders/Marketing-Outreach-Enrollment/PDFs/Background_Reading.pdf.
- ⁵⁰ Request for Proposal (RFP 2021-03): California's Individual Market Defining Marketing Strategies and Spending Methodologies, Covered California. September 1, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiu6ufj96T6AhWXD0QIHX9 3A2gQFnoECA4QAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fhbex.coveredca.com%2Fsolicitations%2F2021-03%2FRFP%25202021-03%2520Marketing%2520Spend%2520-%2520FINAL%252009.01.2021.pdf&usq=AOvVaw2ewMoVFYsbtJztErRgoFhj.
- ⁵¹ Biden-Harris Administration Makes Largest Investment Ever in Navigators Ahead of HealthCare.gov Open Enrollment Period, HHS Press Office. August 26, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2022/08/26/biden-harris-administration-makes-largest-investment-ever-in-navigators-ahead-of-healthcare-gov-open-enrollment-period.html.
- ⁵² CMS to devote nearly \$100M to ACA navigators for 2023 open enrollment, Fierce Healthcare. August 26, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/payers/cms-devote-nearly-100m-acanavigators-2023-open-enrollment.
- ⁵³ Seema Verma defends cuts to ACA Navigator program, commitment to states' 'flexibility', Fierce Healthcare. July 13, 2018. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/hospitals-health-systems/verma-defends-cuts-to-aca-navigator-program.

- ⁵⁴ Source: K. Pollitz, J. Tolbert, M. Diaz. Data Note: Further Reductions in Navigator Funding for Federal Marketplace States, KFF. September 2018. Accessed January 27, 2024. Available at: https://files.kff.org/attachment/Data-Note-Further-Reductions-in-Navigator-Funding-for-Federal-Marketplace-States.
- ⁵⁵ NY State of Health, The Official Health Plan Marketplace 2019 Open Enrollment Report, May 2019. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at:
- https://info.nystateofhealth.ny.gov/sites/default/files/NYSOH%202019%20Open%20Enrollment%20Report 0.pdf.
- ⁵⁶ Press Release: NY State of Health Helps New Yorkers Navigate Their Health Insurance Options as They Explore Career Opportunities, NY State of Health. February 16, 2023. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://info.nystateofhealth.ny.gov/news/press-release-ny-state-health-helps-new-yorkers-navigate-their-healthinsurance-options.
- ⁵⁷ NY State of Health Encourages New Yorkers to Check Out Health Insurance Options at Their Local Library Throughout February, New York State DOH. February 2, 2023. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://health.ny.gov/press/releases/2023/2023-02-02 nysoh.htm.
- ⁵⁸ Press Release: NY State of Health Educates New Yorkers on Health Insurance Options at Summer Farmers' Markets, June 13, 2023. Accessed January 1, 2023. Available at: https://info.nystateofhealth.ny.gov/news/pressrelease-ny-state-health-educates-new-yorkers-health-insurance-options-summer-farmers.
- ⁵⁹ Press Release: NY State of Health Offers Health Insurance Enrollment and Renewal at Food Pantries This Holiday Season, December 8, 2023. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://info.nystateofhealth.ny.gov/news/press-release-ny-state-health-offers-health-insurance-enrollment-andrenewal-food-pantries.
- 60 J. Stephenson. Outreach Strategies Helped Boost Enrollment in State-Based Health Insurance Marketplaces, JAMA. November 8, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama-healthforum/fullarticle/2798513.
- 61 Leavitt Partners, The Your Health Idaho Marketplace: A Model for State Based Adoption, Your Health Idaho. July 2018. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.yourhealthidaho.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/07/Leavitt-Partners-Study The-Your-Health-Idaho-Marketplace-A-Model-For-State-Based-Adoption.pdf.
- 62 Direct Enrollment/Enhanced Direct Enrollment Resources for the Federally-facilitated Exchange, Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight, n.d. Accessed July 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/programs-and-initiatives/health-insurance-marketplaces/direct-enrollment-and-enhanceddirect-enrollment.
- ⁶³ R. Schwab, J. Volk. The Perfect Storm: Misleading Marketing of Limited Benefit Products Continues as Millions Losing Medicaid Search for New Coverage, August 2023. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://georgetown.app.box.com/v/the-perfect-storm-august-2023.
- 64 CCIIO Data Brief Series, Impact of Enhanced Direct Enrollment During the Open Enrollment Period for 2021 Coverage, CCIIO, January 2021, Accessed January 27, 2024, Available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Forms-Reports-and-Other-Resources/Downloads/Impact-EDE-OEP-2021-Coverage.pdf.
- 65 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, HHS Notice of Benefit and Payment Parameters for 2024, Final Rule. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), April 27, 2023. Accessed January 28, 2024. Available at: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2023/04/27/2023-08368/patient-protection-and-affordable-care-act-hhs-notice-of-benefit-and-payment-parameters-for-2024.

- ⁶⁶ Blueprint for Approval of State-Based Health Insurance Exchanges for Coverage Years Beginning on or after 2019. CMS. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/fact-sheets-and-faqs/downloads/cms-blueprint-application.pdf. Note that the consumer outreach section is the most robust section of the Blueprint application.
- ⁶⁷ Georgia Access Approval Letter, CMS. August 4, 2023. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://oci.georgia.gov/document/document/georgia-access-approval-response-letter/download.
- ⁶⁸ S. Corlette, R. Swindle, and R. Schwab. More Than a Website: Should the Federal Government Establish Additional Minimum Standards for the ACA's Health Insurance Marketplaces?, May 16, 2023. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://chirblog.org/more-than-a-website-should-the-federal-government-establish-additional-minimum-standards-for-the-acas-health-insurance-marketplaces/.
- ⁶⁹ R. Schwab, J. Volk. The Perfect Storm: Misleading Marketing of Limited Benefit Products Continues as Millions Losing Medicaid Search for New Coverage, August 2023. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://georgetown.app.box.com/v/the-perfect-storm-august-2023.
- ⁷⁰ CMCS Informational Bulletin: Coordination of Eligibility and Enrollment between Medicaid, CHIP and the Federally Facilitated Marketplace (FFM or "Marketplace"), Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. July 25, 2016. Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib072516.pdf.
- ⁷¹ CMCS Informational Bulletin: Coordination of Eligibility and Enrollment between Medicaid, CHIP and the Federally Facilitated Marketplace (FFM or "Marketplace"), Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. July 25, 2016. Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib072516.pdf.
- ⁷² S. Kanowitz. D.C. pivots for Rescue Plan's health benefits changes, Route Fifty. July 6, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://gcn.com/cloud-infrastructure/2021/07/dc-pivots-for-rescue-plans-health-benefits-changes/315608.
- ⁷³ Cascadia Strategies. C4HCO Concept Paper: Eligibility & Enrollment System, Connect for Health Colorado. September 30, 2016. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://connectforhealthco.com/c4-media/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/C4HCO-Concept-Paper final-1.pdf.
- ⁷⁴ Cascadia Strategies. C4HCO Concept Paper: Eligibility & Enrollment System, Connect for Health Colorado. September 30, 2016. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://connectforhealthco.com/c4-media/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/C4HCO-Concept-Paper final-1.pdf.
- ⁷⁵ Manatt interview with Kevin Patterson, Chief Executive Officer of Connect for Health Colorado.
- ⁷⁶ Integrated Eligibility and Enrollment Modernization Roadmap Report, WA DSHS. January 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.dshs.wa.gov/sites/default/files/contracts/2223-807/2223-807%20Exhibit%201%20WA%20IEE%20Mod.%20Roadmap%20Report.pdf.
- ⁷⁷ Gartner Assessment of the DHS Modernization Strategy, Minnesota Department of Human Services. 2018. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://edocs.dhs.state.mn.us/lfserver/Public/DHS-8172F-ENG.
- ⁷⁸ Request for Proposal for The Development of a Technology Platform and Consumer Assistance Center for New Jersey's State Based Health Exchange (Solicitation Number DOBI 2019-001), State of New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance (DOBI). August 15, 2019. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.state.nj.us/dobi/financial/StateBasedExchangeRFP 2019 08 15.pdf.
- ⁷⁹ California Senate Bill 260 (Chapter 845, Statutes of 2019). Passed October 12, 2019. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://legiscan.com/CA/text/SB260/id/2056887.
- ⁸⁰ N. Murphy, S. Millender. How States Can Build Bridges by Smoothing Medicaid-to-Marketplace Coverage Transitions, Center for American Progress. February 14, 2032. Accessed August 2023. Available at:

https://www.americanprogress.org/article/how-states-can-build-bridges-by-smoothing-medicaid-to-marketplacecoverage-transitions/.

- 81 J. Levitis and S. Corlette. Supporting Continuity of Coverage from Medicaid into the Marketplace: Unwinding Considerations for States, November 9, 2022, Accessed January 1, 2024, Available at: https://www.shvs.org/supporting-continuity-of-coverage-from-medicaid-into-the-marketplace-post-pheconsiderations-for-states/.
- 82 J. Ario and D. Bachrach. Building the Coverage Continuum: The Role of State Medicaid Directors and Insurance Commissioners. Issue Brief, Commonwealth Fund. February 2017. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28211994/.
- 83 State "Easy Enrollment" Programs Gain Momentum, Lay Groundwork for Additional Efforts to Expand Coverage, The Commonwealth Fund, August 2021, Accessed June 2023, Available at: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2021/state-easy-enrollment-programs-gain-momentum-lay-groundworkadditional-efforts-expand. Highlights the easy enrollment implementation timelines and legislation enacted in CO, MD, PA, and VA.
- 84 Facilitated Enrollment Strategy for the Uninsured: Leveraging the Relationship between Tax Filing and Eligibility, GetInsured. May 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://company.getinsured.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/05/White-Paper-Easy-Enrollment-A-Facilitated-Enrollment-Strategy-for-the-Uninsured.pdf.
- 85 Maryland's Easy Enrollment Health Insurance Program: An Innovative Approach to Covering the Eligible Uninsured, Health Affairs. May 2019. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20190510.993788/full/.
- 86 R. Schwab, J. Giovannelli, K. Lucia, S. Corlette. State "Easy Enrollment" Programs Gain Momentum, Lay Groundwork for Additional Efforts to Expand Coverage, The Commonwealth Fund. August 3, 2021. Accessed August 2023. Available at: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2021/state-easy-enrollment-programs-gainmomentum-lay-groundwork-additional-efforts-expand.
- ⁸⁷ State-Based Exchange Benefits: Easy Enrollment, GetInsured. April 24, 2023. Accessed August 2023. Available at: https://company.getinsured.com/state-based-exchange-benefits-easy-enrollment/.
- 88 State Mandates, Unify HR. n.d. Accessed August 2023. Available at: https://unifyhr.com/state-mandates.
- 89 Washington: State Innovation Waiver. December 9, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/files/document/1332-wa-fact-sheet.pdf.
- 90 Fact Sheet: Nevada Public Option. Nevada Medicaid. October 2022. Accessed January 1, 2024. Available at: https://dhhs.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/dhhsnvgov/content/Resources/PublicOption/NV%20Public%20Option%20Fact %20Sheet%2010-14-2022.pdf.
- ⁹¹ Recommendations of the Standard Plans Advisory Working Group to the District of Columbia Health Benefit Exchange Authority, D.C. Health Benefit Exchange Authority. November 8, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available here:
- https://hbx.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/hbx/event content/attachments/Standard%20Plans%20Advisory%20 Group%20Report%20VBID%2011%208%2021%20final%20%28002%29 0.pdf.
- ⁹² D. C. Lewis. Washington, D.C.'s State-Based Marketplace Is Addressing Health Disparities And Systemic Racism In Health Care, Health Affairs. March 17, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available here: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20220315.92335/.
- ⁹³ D. Palanker, N. D. Gooding. What Four States Are Doing to Advance Health Equity in Marketplace Insurance Plans, The Commonwealth Fund. April 13, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at:

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2022/apr/what-four-states-are-doing-advancehealth-equity-marketplace.

- ⁹⁴ Connector Tying Copay Relief To Health Conditions, Health Care for All Massachusetts. March 10, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hcfama.org/connector-tying-copay-relief-to-health-conditions-statehouse-news-service-march-10-2022/.
- ⁹⁵K. Keith. Unpacking Colorado's New Guidance on Transgender Health. November 10, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2021/unpacking-colorados-new-quidancetransgender-health.
- ⁹⁶ S. McCammon, L. Hodges, C. Intagliata. Colorado now requires gender-affirming care to be covered by private health insurance. NPR. October 14, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://www.npr.org/2021/10/14/1046140320/colorado-now-requires-gender-affirming-care-to-be-covered-byprivate-health-insu.
- ⁹⁷ K. Hoskins. Colorado Division of Insurance Presentation at NAIC: Colorado Option Culturally Responsive Provider Networks, NAIC. N.d. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://content.naic.org/sites/default/files/inlinefiles/CO%20Presentation%20Culturally%20Competent%20Network.pdf.
- 98 2023–2025 Attachment 7 Refresh Workgroup, Covered California. June 3, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hbex.coveredca.com/stakeholders/plan-management/PDFs/Plan-Management-Advisory-Group-Presentation-June-3.pdf.
- 99 Attachment 1 to Covered California 2023–2025 Individual Market QHP Issuer Contract: Advancing Equity, Quality, and Value, Covered California. January 24, 2022. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hbex.coveredca.com/stakeholders/plan-management/library/2023-2025 QHP IND Attachment 1 1-24-22 Clean.pdf.
- 100 2023–2025 Attachment 7 Refresh Workgroup, Covered California. June 3, 2021. Accessed June 2023. Available at: https://hbex.coveredca.com/stakeholders/plan-management/PDFs/Plan-Management-Advisory-Group-Presentation-June-3.pdf.
- 101 Checklist for Section 1332 State Relief and Empowerment Waivers (also called section 1332 waivers or State Innovation Waivers) Applications, CCIIO, Updated July 2019, Accessed January 27, 2024, Available at: https://www.cms.gov/cciio/programs-and-initiatives/state-innovation-waivers/downloads/checklist-for-section-1332-state-relief-and empowerment-waivers.pdf.
- 102 State Relief and Empowerment Waivers, Guidance, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), Department of Health and Human Services; Department of the Treasury. October 24, 2018. Accessed January 27, 2024. Available at: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2018/10/24/2018-23182/state-reliefand-empowerment-waivers.